## UC Santa Cruz UC Santa Cruz Electronic Theses and Dissertations

### Title

Essays in Microeconomics

### Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0bh637hm

### Author

Suzuki, Ken

## **Publication Date**

2024

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SANTA CRUZ

### ESSAYS IN APPLIED MICROECONOMICS

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

### **ECONOMICS**

by

#### Ken Suzuki

June 2024

The Dissertation of Ken Suzuki is approved:

Professor Carlos Dobkin, Chair

Professor Laura Giuliano

Professor Justin Marion

Peter Biehl Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies Copyright © by Ken Suzuki 2024

## Contents

Figures and Tables	v
Abstract	xii
Dedication	xiv
Acknowledgments	XV

1	Wha	at Does	the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage	1
	1.1	Introdu	uction	1
	1.2	Backg	round	5
	1.3	Data .		7
		1.3.1	Overview	7
		1.3.2	Data Sources and Sample Construction	7
	1.4	Metho	d	9
		1.4.1	Overview	9
		1.4.2	Instrumental Variable Construction	10
		1.4.3	Variation in Nurse ED Tendency and First-Stage Estimates	11
		1.4.4	Instrument Validity	12
	1.5	Result	8	15
		1.5.1	Hospital Admission	15
		1.5.2	Primary Care Visit	16
		1.5.3	PCP Visits (between 4 and 30 days after triage)	16
		1.5.4	Repeat ED Visits (between 4 and 30 days after triage)	17
		1.5.5	Repeat Call	17
		1.5.6	Mortality	18
	1.6	Robust	tness Checks	18
		1.6.1	Extra Covariates	18
		1.6.2	Granularity of Call-Center-by-Call-Time Fixed Effects	19
		1.6.3	Instrument Types	19
		1.6.4	Standard Errors	20
	1.7	Discus	ssions	20
		1.7.1	Complier Characteristics and Average Potential Outcomes	20

### Contents

		1.7.2 Heterogeneous Treatment Effects	. 21
	1.8	Conclusion	. 22
	1.9	References	. 23
	1.10	Tables and Figures	. 29
	1.11	Appendix Tables and Figures	. 45
2	How	Do Telephone Triage Nurses Affect Patient ED Utilization?	131
	2.1	Introduction	. 131
	2.2	Background	. 135
	2.3	Data	. 136
		2.3.1 Data Sources and Sample Construction	. 137
	2.4	Method	. 138
		2.4.1 Overview	. 138
		2.4.2 Reduced-Form Model	. 139
		2.4.3 Construction of Nurse Triage Tendency Measures	. 140
		2.4.4 Empirical Model for Reduced-Form Analysis	. 141
		2.4.5 2SLS Estimation	. 142
		2.4.6 Variation in Nurse Triage Tendency Measures	. 143
		2.4.7 Balance Check	. 144
	2.5	Results	. 145
		2.5.1 Reduced-Form Estimates of Nurse Triage Measures	. 145
		2.5.2 2SLS Estimations of Nurse Recommendation and Call Duration	
		Effects	. 147
	2.6	Discussion	. 148
	2.7	Conclusion	. 150
	2.8	References	. 153
	2.9	Tables and Figures	. 156
	2.10	Appendix Tables and Figures	. 165
3	Is th	e Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?	181
	3.1	Introduction	. 181
	3.2	Conceptual Framework and Empirical Models	. 187
	3.3	Data	. 190
	3.4	Results	. 192
		3.4.1 The Goat-Year Effects on Marriage Outcomes	. 192
		3.4.2 The Goat-Year Effects on Other Outcomes	. 194
	3.5	Discussion and Conclusion	. 196
	3.6	References	. 199
	3.7	Tables and Figures	. 202
	3.8	Appendix Tables	. 231

# **Figures and Tables**

## **List of Figures**

1.1	Randomization Check and First Stage	30
1.2	First Stage Effects (1-30 Days Since Triage)	31
1.3	Effect of ED Visit on Hospital Admission through ED	32
1.4	Effect of ED Visit on Primary Care Visit	33
1.5	Effect of ED Visit on Repeat Call	34
1.6	Effect of ED Visit on Mortality	35
1.7	Effect of ED Visit on Mortality (1 Year)	36
A1.1	Average Potential Hospital Admission through ED	46
A1.2	Average Potential Primary Care Visit	47
A1.3	Average Potential Repeat Call	48
A1.4	Average Potential Mortality	49
A1.5	Effect of ED Visit on Hospital Admission through ED (by Age)	50
A1.6	Effect of ED Visit on Hospital Admission through ED (by Prior ED	
	Visit)	51
A1.7	Effect of ED Visit on Hospital Admission through ED (by Prior Ad-	
	mission)	52
A1.8	Effect of ED Visit on Primary Care Visit (by Age)	53
A1.9	Effect of ED Visit on Primary Care Visit (by Prior ED Visit)	54
A1.10	Effect of ED Visit on Primary Care Visit (by Prior Admission)	55
A1.11	Effect of ED Visit on Repeat Call (by Age)	56
A1.12	Effect of ED Visit on Repeat Call (by Prior ED Visit)	57
A1.13	Effect of ED Visit on Repeat Call (by Prior Admission)	58
A1.14	Effect of ED Visit on Mortality (by Age)	59
A1.15	Effect of ED Visit on Mortality (by Prior ED Visit)	60
A1.16	Effect of ED Visit on Mortality (by Prior Admission)	61
2.1	Variations in Leave-Out Triage Measures	157
2.1	(Cont.) Variations in Leave-Out Triage Measures	158
2.2	Nurse ED Recommendation vs. Call Duration Tendency Measures	159
A2.1	2SLS and Reduced-Form (IV = Leave-Out Call Duration)	166
A2.2	2SLS and Reduced-Form (IV = Leave-Out ED Recommendation)	167

### Figures and Tables

A2.3	2SLS and Reduced-Form (IV = Leave-Out ED Recommendation and	
	Leave-Out Call Duration)	168
A2.4	2SLS and Reduced-Form (IV = Leave-Out ED Recommendation and	
	Leave-Out Call Duration)	169
A2.5	Nurse-Level Average of ED Recommendation, Conditional on Algo-	
	rithm Recommendation	170
A2.6	Nurse-Level Average of ED Visit, Conditional on Algorithm Recom-	
	mendation	171
A2.7	Triage Algorithm Screen	172
A2.7	(Cont.) Triage Algorithm Screen	173
A2.7	(Cont.) Triage Algorithm Screen	174
A2.7	(Cont.) Triage Algorithm Screen	175
3.1	Conceptual Model of Partner Search with Zodiac Discrimination	203
3.2	Marriage-Cohort Profile for Rural Women (Horse-Goat)	203
3.3	Marriage-Cohort Profile for Rural Women (Goat-Monkey)	204
3.4	Marriage-Cohort Profile for Urban Women (Horse-Goat)	205
3.5	Marriage-Cohort Profile for Urban Women (Goat-Monkey)	206
3.6	Marriage-Cohort Profiles for Rural Women 1970-1983	207
3.7	Stacked Marriage-Cohort Profiles for Rural Women 1976-1982	208
3.8	Stacked Marriage-Cohort Profiles for Urban Women 1976-1982	209
3.9	Population Pyramid for Rural Women	210
3.10	Population Pyramid for Rural Women around the 1979 Goat Year	211
3.11	Population Pyramid for Urban Women	212
3.12	Population Pyramid for Urban Women around the 1979 Goat Year 2	213
3.13	Male-to-Female Ratio for the Rural Sample	214
3.14	Male-to-Female Ratio for Rural Goat-Year Women	215
3.15	Male-to-Female Ratio for the Urban Sample	216
3.16	Male-to-Female Ratio for Urban Goat-Year Women	217
3.17	Educational Attainment for Rural Women	218
3.18	Educational Attainment for Rural Goat-Year Women	219
3.19	Educational Attainment for Urban Women	220
3.20	Educational Attainment for Urban Goat-Year Women	221
3.21	Labor Market Profiles for Rural Women	222
3.22	Labor Market Profiles for Rural Goat-Year Women	223
3.23	Labor Market Profiles for Urban Women	224
3.24	Labor Market Profiles for Urban Goat-Year Women	225
3.25	Marriage-Cohort Profiles with Quadratic Fit	226

## List of Tables

1.1	Characteristics of Baseline Sample	37
1.2	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)	38
1.3	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)	39
1.4	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)	40
1.5	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)	41
16	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)	42
1.0	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)	43
1.7	Complier Characteristics	44
A1 1	Selection of Baseline Sample	62
A1 2	List of Control Variables	63
Δ13	Monotonicity Test	64
A1.3	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3	04
111.7	Dave)	65
A1 /	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission	05
A1. <del>4</del>	(within 3 Days)	66
Δ14	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission	00
111.1	(within 3 Days)	67
A14	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission	07
111.1	(within 3 Days)	68
A1 5	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3	00
111.5	Davs)	69
A1 5	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	07
11110	(within 3 Days)	70
A1 5	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	10
111.5	(within 3 Days)	71
A1 5	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	, 1
11110	(within 3 Days)	72
A1.6	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4	
	and 30 Days)	73
A1.6	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	
	(between 4 and 30 Days)	74
A1.6	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	
	(between 4 and 30 Days)	75

### Figures and Tables

A1.6	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	
	(between 4 and 30 Days)	7
A1.7	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and	
	30 Days)	7
A1.7	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-	
	tween 4 and 30 Days)	7
A1.7	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-	
	tween 4 and 30 Days)	7
A1.7	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-	
	tween 4 and 30 Days)	8
A1.8	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)	8
A1.8	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3	
	Davs)	8
A1.8	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3	
		8
A1.8	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3	
	Davs)	8
A1 9	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)	ş
A1 9	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)	8
Δ1 9	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)	5
A1.0	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)	ç
A1.9	Effect of ED Visit (within 2 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3	C
A1.10	Days)	ç
A 1 10	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 2 Days) on Hospital Admission	C
A1.10	(within 2 Days)	C
A 1 10	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 2 Days) on Hospital Admission	2
A1.10	(within 2 Days)	(
A 1 10	(Within 5 Days)	2
A1.10	(Coll.) Effect of ED Visit (within 5 Days) of Hospital Admission (within 2 Days)	6
A 1 11	(Willing 5 Days)	2
A1.11	Effect of ED visit (within 5 Days) on Primary Care visit (within 5	6
A 1 11	$Days) \qquad \qquad$	2
A1.11	(Cont.) Effect of ED visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care visit	
	(within 3 Days) $\dots$	ç
A1.11	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	
	(within 3 Days)	ç
A1.11	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit	
	(within 3 Days)	9
A1.12	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4	
	and 30 Days)	9

A1.12	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(between 4 and 30 Days)
A1.12	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(between 4 and 30 Days)
A1.12	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(between 4 and 30 Days)
A1.13	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and
	30 Days)
A1.13	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-
4 1 1 0	tween 4 and 30 Days) $\ldots$ 102
A1.13	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-
4 1 1 0	tween 4 and 30 Days) $\ldots$ 103
A1.13	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-
A 1 1 4	tween 4 and 30 Days) $\dots \dots \dots$
A1.14	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days) 105
A1.14	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3
A 1 1 A	Days) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
A1.14	(Cont.) Effect of ED visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3
A 1 1 A	Days)
A1.14	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 5 Days) of Repeat Can (within 5
A 1 15	Effect of ED Visit (within 2 Days) on Mortelity (within 2 Days) 100
A1.15	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days) 109
A1.15	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)110
A1.15	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)111
A1.15	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3
A1.10	Dave)
A1 16	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission
111.10	(within 3 Days) 114
A1.16	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission
	(within 3 Days)
A1.17	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3
	Days)
A1.17	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(within 3 Days)
A1.17	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(within 3 Days)
A1.18	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4
	and 30 Days)

### Figures and Tables

A1.18	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(between 4 and 30 Days)
A1.18	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit
	(between 4 and 30 Days)
A1.19	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and
	30 Days)
A1.19	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-
	tween 4 and 30 Days)
A1.19	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (be-
	tween 4 and 30 Days)
A1.20	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days) 125
A1.20	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3
	Days)
A1.20	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3
	Days)
A1.21	Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days) 128
A1.21	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)129
A1.21	(Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)130
2.1	Characteristics of Baseline Sample 160
2.2	Reduced-Form Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures 161
2.2	(Cont.) Reduced-Form Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures 162
2.2	2SLS Estimates of ED Recommendation and Call Duration 163
2.3	(Cont.) 2SLS Estimates of ED Recommendation and Call Duration 164
A2 1	Selection of Baseline Sample
$\Delta 2.1$	List of Control Variables
$\Delta 2.2$	First-Stage Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures 178
Δ23	(Cont.) First-Stage Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures 179
A2.3	(Cont.) First-Stage Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures 180
A2.3	(Cont.) Thist-Stage Enects of Leave-Out Nuise Thage Weasures 160
3.1	Summary Statistics
3.2	RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage (Rural) 228
3.3	RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage (Urban) 228
3.4	DID Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage
3.5	Sensitivity of the Goat-Year Effect to Specifications
A3.1	RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage with January and
	February Cohorts (Rural)
A3.2	RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage with January and

### List of Tables

A3.3	DID Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage with January and
	February Cohorts

### Abstract

Essays in Applied Microeconomics

by

#### Ken Suzuki

This dissertation uses statistical causal inference methods to answer causal questions in the fields of health economics and economics of culture and institutions. The first chapter is an application of examiner designs in health economics. Despite efforts to reduce emergency department (ED) care and transition patients to alternative settings, there is limited evidence on its impact on patient outcomes. This chapter studies patients that call into a nurse advice line that are directed toward ED care in a rater instrumental variables design. Marginal patients are 5.3 percentage points more likely to be admitted as an inpatient within 3 days since triage and 3.7 percentage points more likely to have a second ED visit within 4 to 30 days. This chapter also shows increased outpatient utilization with no differences in short-term mortality, indicating efforts to divert patients to less acute settings are likely justified.

The second chapter examines the origins of the cross-nurse difference in average ED visit rates of similar patients quasi-randomly assigned to telephone triage nurses. Medical practitioners often make substantially different choices for similar patients. This chapter examines how variation in telephone triage practice style across nurses affect downstream patient healthcare utilization. While a triage decision-support tool standardizes the telephone triage process across nurses, the triage nurses can still exercise discretion through two potential margins: (i) overriding triage recommendations and (ii) intensifying verbal communication to ensure patient compliance with triage disposition. I construct two nurse practice measures to quantify each nurse's average ED recommendation and verbal communication tendencies, exploiting quasi-random assignment of calls to nurses within call centers. My reduced-form estimates suggest that reassigning a call to a nurse with a higher ED recommendation and a longer call duration tendency increases the patient's probability of seeking in-person medical attention.

The third chapter investigates the causal effects of superstitious beliefs that discriminate against women born in the years of Goat in the Chinese zodiac. Translating the Goat-year superstition into a simple framework of partner search under the zodiac discrimination, I consider two empirical strategies to test for the presence of marriage discrimination: a regression discontinuity (RD) design and a difference-in-differences (DID) method. The RD design identifies the superstition effects if women born just before and after the Goat-new year had, on average, the same unobserved characteristics. However, I find that marriage and other socioeconomic outcomes exhibit persistent seasonal patterns, suggesting that the Goat and adjacent birth cohorts are not comparable without controlling for the unobserved differences. Our DID method controls for the unobserved differences across cohorts around the RD threshold and identifies the causal effects of the Goat-year superstition. Applying the DID method to the 1979 Goat-year women in a 1% sample of the 2000 Chinese Population Census, I find no statistical evidence of the superstition effects on marriage and other outcomes.

To the beauty and resilience of the wildlife in Santa Cruz,

### Acknowledgements

My academic journey at UCSC would not have been possible without the support and encouragement of the people I met. First and foremost, I want to thank my advisor, Carlos Dobkin, for trusting me throughout my research career at UCSC, although many research seeds in my earlier years at UCSC did not flourish. Even when my ideas were unsuccessful, he always appreciated my attempts and nudged me into a new direction. Countless discussions with him have continuously broadened my perspectives.

I also want to sincerely thank my other committee members, Laura Giuliano and Justin Marion, for constructive feedback on my research work. Their support was indispensable in my building a research career in applied microeconomics. Beyond my committee, I appreciate all the comments I received from Michael Leung, Jon Robinson, George Bulman, Jeremy West, and Ajay Shenoy.

Moreover, I would also like to thank my coauthors of the first chapter, Liam Rose, Linda Diem Tran, and Anita Vashi. Liam has always shown me the importance of having policy-relevant research questions in health economics. Diem has generously provided me with the data. Anita has helped me interpret the analysis results from the perspective of medicine.

Finally, I am grateful to my friends throughout my time at UCSC. Knowing the research projects of my friends in health economics, Haedong Aiden Rho, Hyunjin Yun, Hamid Habibi, and Monica Shandal, has been exciting and motivating. My fellow Ph.D. students in the Economics Department have made my academic and nonacademic life in Santa Cruz enjoyable. I will never forget my time with them in discussions, food, and sports.

## **Chapter 1**

# What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage<sup>1</sup>

### § 1.1 Introduction

Health care in emergency departments (EDs) accounts for over 5% of US health care spending in addition to being the source of over 70% of inpatient admissions (Scott et al., 2021). While ED care is clearly beneficial to patients with the most acute symptoms, much of the care provided in EDs has been identified as a misallocation of resources and a potential source of cost savings. It has been estimated that over 30% of ED visits could be treated in less acute settings, making ED care the subject of intense focus from policymakers (Weinick et al., 2010; Vashi et al., 2019). As a result, substantial efforts have been undertaken to move patients to alternative care settings, including opening urgent care centers, improving access to primary care, expanding nurse advice lines,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>This chapter is based on a joint project with Liam Rose, Linda Diem Tran, and Anita Vashi. The views expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or the Veterans Health Administrations.

offering provider incentives, and providing case managers from frequent ED utilizers.<sup>2</sup>

However, there is little to no evidence of the effect of ED care on patient outcomes. ED care plays a crucial role in the chain of survival for acute conditions such as myocardial infarction, stroke, and trauma, but less clear is how it affects patients on the margin. Those that receive care in EDs are fundamentally different from those that receive care in less acute settings, and patients that go to an ED are naturally more motivated to receive immediate care. Some patients may have had equivalent outcomes from less intensive care, while some individuals that avoided the ED may have benefited from the immediate attention. We avoid this issue by studying patients experiencing symptoms that call in to a nurse advice line. These lines provides individuals with access to medical personnel – most often a registered nurse – who can offer healthrelated information, advice, and guidance. Nurse advice lines have become ubiquitous across health care systems and insurance networks, including all major US insurance companies, national health systems such as the NHS, and state and federal health agencies. We examine patients in the Veterans Affairs health care system (VA). Using the rater instrumental variables design, we are able to identify patients that are convinced to go to the ED by virtue of the quasi-random assignment of nurses to patients that call into a VA nurse advice line.

We show that there is wide variation in the propensity of nurses to have patients visit the ED, even when accounting for patient location and when the call was placed. Our

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Evaluations of these efforts have shown mixed results (Flores-Mateo et al., 2012; Raven et al., 2016). Increases in primary care access successfully reduced ED visits in Uninsured and Medicaid populations (Sadowski et al., 2009; Retchin et al., 2009), but case management, individualized care plans, and information sharing were not consistently effective (Soril et al., 2015). Urgent care centers have been shown to be substitutes for EDs when examined through available hours (Allen et al., 2021) and opening and closing of clinics (Alexander et al., 2019), but may also increase overall health care spending through downstream hospital admissions (Currie et al., 2023).

#### §1.1 Introduction

first-stage estimate implies that changing a call assignment from a nurse at the 5th to a nurse at the 95th percentile of the ED propensity distribution increases the probability of ED visit by 10.5 percentage points, a 54 percent change from the 3-day ED visit rate of 19.4%. We show strong balance across observable covariates for patients assigned to nurses with different ED propensities.

Our IV results show that the marginal patient is 5.3 percentage points (pp) more likely to be admitted as an inpatient within 3 days since triage, relative to the sample mean of 2.3%. They are 3.7 pp more likely to have a second ED visit within 4 to 30 days and 32.7 pp less likely to have visit with a primary care within 3 days. However, unlike naive OLS estimates, we find no effect on 30-day mortality. These patients are also no less likely to call the nurse triage line again. Finally, we then show that compliers were more likely to have had ED visits and hospitalizations in the year preceding the call, as well as being more likely to have utilized telemedicine in the previous year.

This paper contributes to several strands of literature. First, it contributes to a very limited literature on ED effectiveness. It is well-established that ED overcrowding degrades the quality of treatment (Morley et al., 2018), but Turner et al. (2020) and Hoe (2022) show that it has only small effect on revisits and no effect on downstream mortality. A review by Lauque et al. (2022) did not find an association between length of ED visit before inpatient admission and in-hospital mortality.

Second, it is related to previous on resource allocation in the health care sector. While there is great interest in productivity in the health care sector, patient allocation to different care settings is understudied. In post-acute care, Rose (2020) finds that skilled nursing facility (SNF) care reduces readmissions over home health or self-care, Werner et al. (2019) shows that home health care is associated with higher readmissions

over SNFS, and Einav et al. (2023) finds that long-term care hospitals are equal or worse for patients outcomes than SNFs. There has been some work comparing ambulatory surgical centers (ACS) outpatient surgery performed at hospitals, with either better or equal outcomes at ACSs (Munnich and Parente, 2018; Aouad et al., 2019). There is additionally work comparing operative and non-operative management of certain conditions (Katz et al., 2013). These comparisons do not deal with acute care, however. Outcomes of visits that pass through the emergency department such as acute myocardial infraction (AMI) are often used as an indicator of hospital quality (e.g. Chandra et al. (2016)), but this does not touch on the impact of the emergency department itself. Chan and Chen (2022) and Silver (2021) study provider productivity within the ED, but can only consider patients within that setting.

There is a vast literature on overuse in the ED setting, with a number of different methods of classifying which care is not clinically appropriate for the ED (Weinick et al., 2010; Uscher-Pines et al., 2013; Sabbatini et al., 2014; Vashi et al., 2019). These works suggest that patients could be seen in lower acuity settings such as primary care or urgent care, but are unable to estimate the effects of reallocating patients away from the ED on patient outcomes. While Alexander et al. (2019) and Allen et al. (2021) both showed urgent care substituted for ED care, downstream outcomes were not available. Our work improves on this by examining how ED care affects outcomes for the marginal patient that might have otherwise been seen in either a lower acuity setting or at a later date.

Finally, this paper complements previous work on nurse triage lines. Previous work on this topic has shown mixed effects of nurse triage lines on utilization, with most not finding decreases in primary care or ED use (Lake et al., 2017; Boggan et al., 2020).

While this paper does not evaluate the effect of these lines directly, it does provide insight on the downstream effects of decisions by providers working in this setting.

In the next section we provide brief background about VA health care and the nurse triage program. This is followed by a presentation of our empirical strategy, results, and conclusion.

### § 1.2 Background

The VA operates one of the nation's largest health care systems, providing care to approximately 10 million veterans at 171 medical centers and 1113 outpatient facilities distributed across the country. To receive VA health care, an individual must have served and been honorably discharged from the military and qualify under at least one of three broad categories: have a disability connected to their service, have income below a set threshold, or have been discharged within the last five years.<sup>3</sup> In a given year, VA provides care to about one-third of US veterans, providing extensive service in a vertically-integrated system that includes primary care, mental health care, specialty care, acute care, and long-term care.

VA medical centers and outpatient clinics generally operate on a "hub-and-spoke" model, where regional medical centers work together with a number of nearby outpatient clinics. Medical centers are then geographically divided into 18 regional care systems known as Veteran Integrated Service Networks (VISNs). Historically, medical centers and VISNs developed their own call centers to serve as entry points for veterans and their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>VA uses the Department of Housing and Urban Development's annual geographic-based income limits, further allowing individuals to be 10% over the threshold if they agree to pay copays. Over 80% of enrolled veterans face no cost sharing.

families. The call centers provide frequently used administrative and clinical services. While services have differed somewhat among call centers, they all provided some form of assistance with appointment scheduling, enrollment questions, pharmacy services, and nurse triage.

Nurse triage services allow patients to speak with a Registered Nurse (RN) for evaluation of symptoms and disposition of health care concerns. The telephone triage process involves ranking veterans' health concerns according to urgency, and then using standardized physician-approved protocols to guide the nurse through a targeted medical history and provide uniform triage recommendations. These decision-support tools provide the nurse with recommendations for disposition (e.g. ED, urgent care, primary care, or self-care) and follow-up intervals (e.g. 911 now, 0–2 hours, 2–8 hours, 10–24 hours, within 3 days, within 2 weeks). While these recommendations are noted in the patients' medical record, the triage nurse does not initiate further contact with the patient to ensure the recommendation is followed.

In addition to providing services directly, VA also purchases care from non-VA providers. Importantly, this includes emergency care, with more than one-third of ED visits involving VA occurring at non-VA facilities. VA encourages enrollees that consider their life or health to be in danger to seek immediate medical attention, and prior approval is not required. Triage nurses are instructed to work with patients to direct them to the appropriate care location.

### § 1.3 Data

#### 1.3.1 Overview

We construct our analysis sample by linking multiple sources of administrative data from the VA, including records of nurse triage cases, healthcare utilization, and patient demographics. This section sketches the most relevant information about our analysis sample and Appendix Table A1.1 describes our data cleaning and sample construction in further detail.

### **1.3.2 Data Sources and Sample Construction**

Our sample construction starts with the universe of telephone triage cases received in all call centers across the US from July 1, 2018, to December 31, 2022. The triage records have information at the call level, including triage date-time (year, month, day, hour, and minute), patient ID, triage nurse ID, station (call center) ID, triage disposition (recommended follow-up location and timing), and free-entry notes.

To define the treatment variable of our analysis, we link the triage records to the ED utilization records that include patients' visits to both VA and non-VA EDs. Using patient ID, we search the ED utilization records for an ED visit made by the veteran within three days of the triage. In our main specification, the binary treatment is defined as an indicator of whether the veteran has an ED visit within three days of the triage.

Each call is further linked to the patient's prior healthcare utilization events at VA facilities (within 365 days of the triage), prior diagnoses (31 Elixhauser comorbidity indices), VA's benefits eligibility status (priority group indicators), and demographics (e.g., age, gender, marital status). We use those covariates for randomization and

robustness checks.

Our primary outcomes include mortality, hospital admission, and subsequent healthcare utilization events. We construct mortality indicators from 1 to 30 days of the triage call using the date of death in the VA veteran roster. We also measure whether the patient is admitted to the hospital through the ED and whether the patient calls the triage line again within a month since the index triage call.

To construct our main sample, we impose the following key restrictions (See Appendix Table A1.1). First, we drop the calls during non-business hours (before 8 am, after 4 pm, weekends, and holidays). Some call centers do not offer telephone triage during non-business hours and transfer calls to other call centers or non-VA contractors. Second, we remove calls from patients with the most recent prior triage call within 30 days to focus on the index triage incident. Third, we only retain calls received by nurses with at least 100 calls per year to reduce noise in our constructed measure of nurse ED tendencies.<sup>4</sup> Forth, we only keep calls in call-center-by-month-by-year cells with at least two nurses to focus on the calls that had a chance of being as good as randomly assigned to different nurses. Lastly, we select a subset of 28 call centers out of the remaining 72 call centers for which patient age is balanced across nurses within call-center-by-call-time cells. Specifically, we only include call centers for which the F-test of joint significance of nurse dummies fails to reject at the 10% significance level when we regress patient age on those nurse dummies and call-date-time dummies (day-of-week, hour-of-day, and month-year indicators).<sup>5</sup> With these restrictions, our baseline

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Anecdotally, some nurse managers stated that some nurses would only work nurse triage for short periods, or that nurse managers themselves would occasionally step in to field calls when needed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Chan et al. (2022) use a similar last step for their main sample construction to ensure quasi-random assignment of VA radiologists to veteran patients' chest X-ray exams. Similar to their study, although we expect nurse assignment to be as good as random in all call centers, our interviews with nurse managers suggest organizational and managerial structure can differ across call centers in ways that

sample consists of 320,145 calls (from 199,997 patients) received by 248 nurses at 28 call centers.

While our primary analysis only uses call-center-by-call-time fixed effects as the conditioning set, we use several patients' characteristics for randomization and robustness checks. We gather patients' prior healthcare utilization (within 365 days of the triage), prior diagnoses (31 Elixhauser comorbidity indices), VA benefits eligibility status (priority group indicators), and demographics (e.g., age, gender, marital status). Appendix Table A1.2 shows the list of all control variables.

Table 1.1 summarizes our sample of triage calls. The average call is from a nearelderly patient (average age = 61) with high rates of previous year healthcare utilization (primary care = 85%, VA ED = 25.2%, non-VA ED = 17.4%, telephone triage = 86%). Nurses recommend ED visit at a higher rate than the algorithm (29% vs. 26.5%). Roughly 20% of the calls result in at least one ED visit within 3 days since triage call, and 2.5% result in hospital admission through ED. Within 30 days of triage, 11.3% of the cases have another triage call, 62.1% have at least one primary care visit, and 0.5% result in patient mortality.

### § 1.4 Method

### 1.4.1 Overview

For call i, we consider a model to estimate the effect of ED visits on outcomes such as mortality:

call-center-by-call-date-time indicators may not perfectly absorb confounding variations.

(1.1) 
$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 D_i + \mathbf{X}'_i \boldsymbol{\pi} + u_i$$

(1.2) 
$$D_i = \delta_0 + \delta_1 Z_i + \mathbf{X}'_i \boldsymbol{\rho} + e_i$$

where  $Y_i$  is the outcome of interest for call *i*,  $D_i$  is an indicator of whether the patient of call *i* visits ED within 3 days since triage call,  $X_i$  is a vector of call- and patient-level control variables, and  $u_i$  is an error term. The key challenge in estimating equation (1.1) is that patients who visit an ED differ from patients who do not in their underlying health conditions. For instance, patients with a life-threatening condition at the time of triage may be more likely to visit an ED after the triage call and experience a higher rate of mortality.

To estimate the effect of ED visits on patient health and utilization outcomes, we need an exogenous variation in ED visit decisions independent of the patient's underlying health conditions. Following the examiner design literature, our empirical strategy exploits as instrument  $Z_i$  the quasi-random assignment of triage nurses to calls and the variation in the propensity to have callers visit an ED across those nurses.

### **1.4.2 Instrumental Variable Construction**

We construct a leave-one-out instrument by averaging ED visit indicators of other patients triaged by the same nurse, following the examiner design literature (Dahl et al., 2014; Dobbie et al., 2018; Silver and Zhang, 2022). In constructing this instrument, we focus on cross-nurse variation within cells defined by call center and call month-year interactions. Exploiting within-cell cross-nurse variation this way addresses potential concerns about non-random nurse assignment. Within call centers, average health

conditions of healthcare users may not be uniformly distributed over time. For instance, patients who call in winter months may more likely have seasonal flu than patients who call in summer months. If certain nurses are more likely to work in summer than in winter, the simple leave-out average will be biased. Across call centers, there are level differences in patient ED utilization rates.

Specifically, for call *i* that is assigned to nurse *j*, we first obtain residual of ED visit status, denoted as  $D_i^*$ , before calculating the leave-one-out average. We partial out the conditioning set  $X_i$  from the ED visit indicator  $D_i$  using the following linear regression:

(1.3) 
$$D_i^* = D_i - \mathbf{X}_i' \boldsymbol{\gamma} = Z_{ij} + \epsilon_i$$

where  $X_i$  includes call-center-by-call-month-by-year interactions. The residuals  $D_i^*$  include the nurse ED tendency  $Z_{ij}$  and idiosyncratic call-level error term  $\epsilon_i$ .

Then we construct the leave-out ED tendency measure by averaging the residual ED visit status of all other patients but patient k(i) assigned to nurse j in year y(i):

(1.4) 
$$Z_{i} = \frac{1}{K_{j,y(i)} - 1} \sum_{i'} \frac{1\{k(i') \neq k(i), j(i') = j, y(i') = y(i)\} D_{i'}^{*}}{n_{k(i'),j,y(i)}}$$

where  $K_{j,y}$  is the number of patients assigned to nurse j in year y and  $n_{k,j,y}$  is the total number of calls from patient k received by nurse j in year y.

### 1.4.3 Variation in Nurse ED Tendency and First-Stage Estimates

Figure 1.1 presents the distribution of our nurse ED tendency measure. In any given call-center-by-year cell, there are at least 2 distinct nurses, with the median cell including 5 nurses. All call-center-by-nurse-by-year cells contain more than 100 calls. The 5th

to 95th percentile of our residualized, leave-out measure ranges from -0.063 to 0.063 with a standard deviation of 0.040. The solid line visually presents the first stage by a natural cubic spline regression of (residualized) ED visit indicator on our nurse ED tendency measure. The corresponding linear first-stage coefficient in equation (1.2) is 0.83, implying that changing a call assignment from the 5th to 95th percentile nurse increases the probability of ED visit by 10.5 percentage points, a 54 percent change from the 3-day ED visit rate of 19.4%. The first-stage effect is statistically significant, with a first-stage F-statistic of 2,266.5. Figure 1.2 shows that being assigned to a high ED tendency nurse persistently increases the probability of ED visit over 1 to 30 days since triage.

### **1.4.4 Instrument Validity**

So far, we have shown that there is substantial variation across nurses in their tendency to have patients visit an ED. Our leave-out nurse ED tendency measure is a significant predictor of patient ED visit status. For the nurse ED tendency measure to be a valid instrument, it must satisfy exclusion and monotonicity conditions. We discuss those assumptions in the following sub-sections.

#### **Quasi-Random Assignment and Exclusion**

As we have discussed, our leave-out instrument is constructed to capture variations in the probability of having patients visit an ED across nurses within the same cell defined by call center and call month-year interaction. The quasi-randomness assumption requires that, within the cells, caller's potential outcomes are uncorrelated with the nurse assignment. We empirically examine this assumption by testing if the leave-out nurse ED tendency measure is correlated with patient characteristics. To this end, we first obtain each call's predicted ED visit probability as an aggregate measure of patient characteristics by regressing ED visit indicator on a set of patient demographics (age, veteran status, mariatal status, gender, priority group, and rurality of residence), prior healthcare utilization and diagnosis measures as well as call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. We then examine if the predicted ED visit is correlated with our instrument, following the examiner design literature (Chan et al., 2023). In Figure 1.1, the dashed line presents a natural cubic spline regression of (residualized) predicted ED visit probability on our nurse ED tendency measure. The flat line indicates that our instrument is not meaningfully related with patient characteristics.

The exclusion restriction requires that nurse assignment affects caller's outcomes solely through the change in the probability of ED visit. A potential violation happens, for instance, if nurses with a higher ED propensity provide better (worse) health education over the phone, thereby decreasing (increasing) mortality. During triage, nurses only verbally interact with veterans over the phone and do not provide any substantial medical treatment. Moreover, nurses do not further follow-up the patient after the triage call to ensure the triage recommendation is followed. Taken together, nurses have limited scope to affect patient's outcomes beyond the post-triage ED visit probability.

#### Monotonicity

This study assumes monotonicity to identify and estimate an interpretable weighted average of individual-level treatment effects in the presence of heterogeneous ED treatment effects. Conventionally, literature in examiner design has often imposed pairwise

monotonicity. In our context, the pairwise monotonicity requires that, for any pair of nurses j, j' within the same call-center-by-call-time cell, if nurse j has a higher propensity to have the calls visit an ED than nurse j' overall, any call i that visits an ED if triaged by nurse j' must visit an ED if triaged by nurse j.<sup>6</sup> Under this assumption, the 2SLS identifies the non-negatively weighted sum of the pairwise local average treatment effects (Imbens and Angrist, 1994).

However, this assumption fails for several potential reasons. For instance, nurse j may have a lower ED propensity than nurse j' for patients with a particular symptom, while j still has a higher ED propensity than nurse j' overall. Even if we construct nurse ED tendency within observed case types, the pairwise monotonicity still fails if nurse j's ED tendency relative to the other nurses changes in unobserved ways. Frandsen et al. (2023a) show that the 2SLS still identifies the non-negatively weighted sum of individual average treatment effects under the less restrictive assumption of average monotonicity. The average monotonicity assumption requires that the covariance between nurse-specific potential treatment status for call i ( $D_i(j)$ ) and nurse overall propensity to have the callers visit an ED (E [ $D_i(j)$ ]) are nonnegative.<sup>7</sup> This non-negative covariance requirement implies that the nurse ED tendencies calculated with all calls should positively correlate with caller's ED visit status for any subset of calls (Frandsen et al., 2023a).<sup>8</sup>

To empirically assess this implication, we examine if the first-stage relationship

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The pairwise monotonicity requires that, for any pair of nurses j, j' with  $E[D_i(j)] \ge E[D_i(j')], D_i(j) \ge D_i(j')$  for all call *i*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Equivalently, the average ED propensity among nurses who would have case i visit an ED must be higher than or equal to the average ED propensity among nurses who would not.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Average monotonicity is a condition defined at the individual call *i* level. The covariance must be taken for each call *i* using counterfactual assignment across different nurses. We cannot directly test the non-negative covariance requirement at the call level since each call is assigned to only one nurse. However, Sigstad (2023) shows robustness of average monotonicity using judicial panels where multiple judges decide each case. Sigstad (2023) shows that average monotonicity is violated in only 4% of US Supreme Court cases, whereas pairwise monotonicity is violated in 50%.

between the leave-out instrument and caller's ED visit status is positive for any subset of the calls defined by observable call characteristics, such as age above 60 vs. age below 60, following the prior literature (Dobbie et al., 2018; Chan et al., 2023). Table A1.3 presents that the first-stage coefficients are positive for all subsample pairs.

### § 1.5 Results

This section presents 2SLS estimates of the effect of having an ED visit within three days since triage on inpatient admission, primary care visits, repeat calls, and mortality. Following the design-based inference framework described by Abadie et al. (2023), we report standard errors clustered at the call center level since this is the level at which the call assignment to nurses happens.<sup>9</sup> In Appendix, we also report results with heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors and standard errors clustered at different levels.

### **1.5.1 Hospital Admission**

Table 1.2 presents 2SLS estimates on the probability of hospital admission via ED within three days since the triage call. Hospital admission increases by 5.3 to 6.0 percentage points (pp) (sample average = 2.3%). Figure 1.3 presents the estimated effects on the probability of hospital admission via ED within 1 to 30 days since the triage call. The ED effect on admission persists over one month. On average, a call is approximately 5 pp more likely to experience a hospital admission within 30 days if it has a post-triage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Ideally, we want to cluster standard errors at the work shift level as the group of nurses who worked during the same hours constitutes the natural unit of call randomization (Abadie et al., 2023; Frandsen et al., 2023b; Chyn et al., 2024). Unfortunately, we do not have nurse work shift data.

ED visit than if it does not.

### **1.5.2 Primary Care Visit**

Post-triage healthcare in the ED can affect patient healthcare utilization in other facilities. Table 1.3 shows 2SLS estimates on the probability of having at least one primary care physician (PCP) visit within three days since triage. A post-triage ED visit decreases the probability of PCP utilization by 32.7 to 33.5 pp (sample average = 34.7%). Figure 1.4 shows 2SLS estimates on the probability of having at least one PCP visit within 1 to 30 days after triage. While the effects are waning in magnitude over time, the post-triage ED visit continues to depress the probability of visiting a PCP. On average, a call with an ED visit within three days is 24.3 pp less likely to have PCP utilization within 30 days of triage (sample average = 66.5%).

### **1.5.3 PCP Visits (between 4 and 30 days after triage)**

The effects of ED on patient healthcare utilization at other facilities could differ across different points in time. While we find that having an ED visit decreases the probability of PCP utilization within 30 days since triage, the negative estimates can be a composite of multifaceted ED effects of potentially different signs, such as (i) the initial facility substitution from primary care to ED (short term), (ii) the effect of ED care on resolving patient healthcare needs (middle term), and (iii) the effect of ED care on follow-up care at primary care (middle term). While disentangling those channels is challenging, we attempt to tear out the middle-term effects ((ii) and (iii)) from the short-term effect of facility substitution ((i)).

Table 1.4 shows 2SLS estimates of the 3-day ED visit effect on the probability of having at least one primary care visit between 4 and 30 days since triage. While statistically insignificant, the 3-day ED visit decreases the probability of having a PCP visit in the middle term by 2.3 to 4.1 pp. Those estimates are much smaller than the estimates found in Figure 1.4, suggesting that the initial facility substitution channel primarily drives the estimates in Figure 1.4. While interpretation requires some caution, the middle-term reduction in PCP utilization suggests that the ED resolves patient healthcare needs more than it increases the onset of follow-up care in primary care.

### **1.5.4** Repeat ED Visits (between 4 and 30 days after triage)

Having an ED visit immediately after triage can increase patient attachment to healthcare at the ED, potentially leading to multiple ED visits in the middle term. We examine this possibility by estimating the 3-day ED visit effect on having another ED visit between 4 and 30 days since triage. While statistically imprecise, Table 1.5 suggests that having the first post-triage ED visit within three days increases the likelihood of another visit 4 to 30 days by 3.7 to 6.0 percentage points.

### 1.5.5 Repeat Call

Having multiple triage calls within the short- to mid-term is another possible indicator of a patient's unaddressed healthcare needs. Table 1.6 shows 2SLS estimates on the probability of a patient making a new triage call within three days since the original triage. While estimated effects are imprecise, patients who visit an ED within three days are 1.3 to 1.5 pp less likely to call the triage line again within three days since triage. Figure 1.5 reports 2SLS estimates on having a repeat call within 1 to 30 days. Overall, the effects are not distinguishable from zero.

### **1.5.6 Mortality**

Finally, we examine the effect of an ED visit on patient mortality as an ultimate health outcome. Table 1.7 reports 2SLS estimates of the 3-day ED visit effect on mortality within three days since triage call. The estimate implies a 0.1 pp mortality reduction, although it is imprecisely estimated. Figure 1.6 presents the effects on mortality within 1 to 30 days since triage. The estimated ED effects on short- to mid-term mortality are not distinguishable from zero. Figure 1.7 shows the ED effects on 1-year mortality. We do not find any effect on long-term mortality, either.

### § 1.6 Robustness Checks

#### **1.6.1 Extra Covariates**

Figures 1.3-1.7 and Tables 1.2-1.7 show 2SLS estimates as we sequentially add controls to the models: (i) 4 prior utilization indicators (primary care, VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient), (ii) (i) + 5 prior utilization indicators (tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health), and (iii) (ii) + hold-out controls, including prior diagnosis (Elixhauser Comorbidity Index), demographics, and VA benefit eligibility. These controls address the concern that calls from sicker patients may be selected into triage nurses with higher propensity to induce ED visit. Overall,

2SLS estimates are not sensitive to the inclusion of these controls.

### **1.6.2** Granularity of Call-Center-by-Call-Time Fixed Effects

A possible threat to identification is that certain nurses may be more likely to work particular shift during which sicker patients are more likely to call. We address this possible threat by examining sensitivity of our 2SLS estimates to different sets of call-center-by-call-time fixed effects.<sup>10</sup> Appendix Tables A1.4-A1.9 show 2SLS estimates from specifications with different levels of call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Overall, changing the granularity of call-center-by-call-time fixed effects does not affect the 2SLS estimates.

### **1.6.3 Instrument Types**

In the main analysis, we construct the leave-one-patient-out instrument by averaging residualized ED visit indicators of other patients received by the same nurse in the same year. As robustness checks, we examine sensitivity of our 2SLS estimates to three alternative nurse ED tendency measures: (i) leave-one-call-out average, (ii) leave-one-patient-out average of non-residualized ED indicators, and (iii) leave-one-patient-out average of calls received by the same nurse from all years. Appendix Tables A1.10-A1.15 present 2SLS estimates from specifications with instruments constructed differently. Results across all instruments are similar to our preferred instrument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>We examine four different sets of fixed effects specifications: (i) Call-Center-by-Month-Year, (ii) Call-Center-by-Month-Year + Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week, (iii) Call-Center-by-Year-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week + Call-Center-by-Da
Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage

#### **1.6.4 Standard Errors**

Finally, we implement statistical inference with standard errors computed differently. Our main analysis reports standard errors clustered at the call-center level because this is the level at which nurses are effectively randomized (Abadie et al. 2023; Frandsen et al. 2023). Appendix Tables A1.16- A1.21 present the same set of results with standard errors clustered at the call-center-by-month-year level as well as heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors. The comparison of those results reveals that standard errors clustered at the call-center level are the most conservative among the three types of standard errors. Hence, the choice of standard errors does not affect our statistical inference results.

## § 1.7 Discussions

#### **1.7.1** Complier Characteristics and Average Potential Outcomes

Our instrumental variable strategy identifies the local average treatment effects of ED visit among callers whose ED visit decision can be swayed by nurse assignment. We cannot identify treatment effects among the set of always-takers and never-takers: (i) calls with the most (least) severe health conditions to which all triage nurses would (would not) attempt to have them visit an ED regardless of those nurses' usual ED tendencies, and (ii) callers that would (or would not) visit an ED regardless of to which nurse they are assigned. This observation implies that the set of compliers consists of cases in the middle of the severity distribution. We estimate the average observable characteristics of compliers and contrast them to the overall averages of our analysis

sample. Further, we estimate the average potential outcomes for compliers to understand our treatment effect estimates better.<sup>11</sup>

Table 1.8 shows average characteristics of compliers relative to the overall sample. Compliers have higher Elixhauser comorbidity scores and are more likely to have ED visits and inpatient admissions in the prior year than the overall sample. Appendix Figures A1.1-A1.4 present the average potential outcome estimates for hospital admissions, primary care visits, repeat calls, and mortality within 1 to 30 days since triage. The differences between panels (a) and (b) mirror the IV estimates shown in Figures 1.3-1.6. Appendix Figures A1.1 and A1.2 reveal that having a post-triage ED visit within 3 days immediately changes potential hospital admission and primary care visit trajectories within the next 30 days relative to the respective potential outcome trajectories under no ED visit. In contrast, Appendix Figures A1.3 and A1.4 show that potential outcome trajectories for repeat calls and mortality do not significantly differ between the states with and without ED visits.

#### **1.7.2 Heterogeneous Treatment Effects**

We examine whether having an ED visit affects outcomes differently across subpopulations. We split the analysis sample by age (65 and over vs. below 65), ED utilization in prior year, and inpatient admission in prior year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>We estimate the average complier characteristics and average potential outcomes using Abadie's kappa method (Abadie, 2002, 2003). Specifically, we implement 2SLS regressions of the interaction between each covariate and ED visit indicator  $(W_i \cdot D_i)$  on ED visit indicator  $(D_i)$ , where the right-hand-side ED visit indicator is instrumented by the leave-out average of ED visits. We similarly estimate the average potential outcomes with ED visit  $(Y_i(1))$  among compliers, using 2SLS regressions of the interaction between each outcome and ED visit indicator  $(Y_i \cdot D_i)$  on ED visit indicator  $(D_i)$ , where the right-hand-side ED visit indicator is instrumented by the leave-out average of ED visits. The average potential outcomes without ED visit  $(Y_i(0))$  among compliers are similarly estimated by replacing  $D_i$  with  $1 - D_i$ .

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage

Figures A1.5-A1.7 present 2SLS estimates of ED visit on the probability of having a hospital admission by subsample. The effects of ED visit on admission are larger among veterans who are older than 65, those with ED visits in the prior year, and those with inpatient admissions in the prior year. In contrast, Figures A1.8-A1.10 show that the ED effects on the probability of having a PCP visit are smaller among those sub-populations.

## § 1.8 Conclusion

This study examines the treatment effects of having an ED visit on patients' subsequent healthcare utilization and health outcomes, using the cross-nurse difference in their propensity to have patients visit an ED as an instrument. We find that a post-triage ED visit decreases primary care visits and increases hospital admissions and repeat ED visits within 30 days of triage. Our estimates suggest that the initial healthcare facility substitution primarily drives the considerable reduction in the probability of primary care utilization.

We interpret the 2SLS estimates as weighted average treatment effects among the complier subpopulation whose post-triage ED visit is swayed by the cross-nurse variation in triage practice (propensity to have patients visit an ED). Our average complier characteristics estimates suggest that the compliers are, on average, sicker than the overall sample.

## § 1.9 References

- Alberto Abadie. Bootstrap Tests for Distributional Treatment Effects in Instrumental Variable Models. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 97(457):284–292, 2002. ISSN 01621459.
- Alberto Abadie. Semiparametric instrumental variable estimation of treatment response models. *Journal of Econometrics*, 113(2):231–263, April 2003. ISSN 0304-4076. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4076(02)00201-4.
- Alberto Abadie, Susan Athey, Guido W Imbens, and Jeffrey M Wooldridge. When Should You Adjust Standard Errors for Clustering? *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 138(1):1–35, February 2023. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjac038.
- Diane Alexander, Janet Currie, and Molly Schnell. Check up before you check out: Retail clinics and emergency room use. *Journal of Public Economics*, 178:104050, October 2019. ISSN 0047-2727. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2019.104050. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0047272719301112.
- Lindsay Allen, Janet R. Cummings, and Jason M. Hockenberry. The impact of urgent care centers on nonemergent emergency department visits. *Health Services Research*, 56(4):721–730, August 2021. ISSN 0017-9124. doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.13631. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8313962/.
- Marion Aouad, Timothy T. Brown, and Christopher M. Whaley. Reference pricing: The case of screening colonoscopies. *Journal of Health Economics*, 65:246–259, May 2019. ISSN 0167-6296. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2019.03.002. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167629618306209.
- Joel C. Boggan, John Paul Shoup, John D. Whited, Elizabeth Van Voorhees, Adelaide M. Gordon, Sharron Rushton, Allison A. Lewinski, Amir A. Tabriz, Soheir Adam, Jessica Fulton, Andrzej S. Kosinski, Megan G. Van Noord, John W. Williams, Karen M. Goldstein, and Jennifer M. Gierisch. Effectiveness of Acute Care Remote Triage Systems: a Systematic Review. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 35(7):2136– 2145, July 2020. ISSN 1525-1497. doi: 10.1007/s11606-019-05585-4. URL https: //doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-05585-4.
- David C Chan, Matthew Gentzkow, and Chuan Yu. Selection with Variation in Diagnostic Skill: Evidence from Radiologists. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137 (2):729–783, May 2022. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjab048.

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage

- David C. Chan, David Card, and Lowell Taylor. Is There a VA Advantage? Evidence from Dually Eligible Veterans. *American Economic Review*, 113(11):3003–43, 2023. doi: 10.1257/aer.20211638.
- Jr Chan, David C. and Yiqun Chen. The Productivity of Professions: Evidence from the Emergency Department, October 2022. URL https://www.nber.org/papers/ w30608.
- Amitabh Chandra, Amy Finkelstein, Adam Sacarny, and Chad Syverson. Health Care Exceptionalism? Performance and Allocation in the US Health Care Sector. *American Economic Review*, 106(8):2110–2144, August 2016. ISSN 0002-8282. doi: 10. 1257/aer.20151080. URL https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/ aer.20151080.
- Eric Chyn, Brigham Frandsen, and Emily C Leslie. Examiner and Judge Designs in Economics: A Practitioner's Guide. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series*, No. 32348, 2024. doi: 10.3386/w32348.
- Janet Currie, Anastasia Karpova, and Dan Zeltzer. Do urgent care centers reduce Medicare spending? *Journal of Health Economics*, 89:102753, May 2023. ISSN 0167-6296. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2023.102753. URL https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S0167629623000309.
- Gordon B. Dahl, Andreas Ravndal Kostøl, and Magne Mogstad. Family Welfare Cultures. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 129(4):1711–1752, November 2014. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qju019.
- Will Dobbie, Jacob Goldin, and Crystal S. Yang. The effects of pretrial detention on conviction, future crime, and employment: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *American Economic Review*, 108(2):201–40, February 2018. doi: 10.1257/ aer.20161503.
- Liran Einav, Amy Finkelstein, and Neale Mahoney. Long-Term Care Hospitals: A Case Study in Waste. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 105(4):745–765, July 2023. ISSN 0034-6535. doi: 10.1162/rest\_a\_01092. URL https://doi.org/10.1162/ rest\_a\_01092.
- Gemma Flores-Mateo, Concepción Violan-Fors, Paloma Carrillo-Santisteve, Salvador Peiró, and Josep-Maria Argimon. Effectiveness of Organizational Interventions to Reduce Emergency Department Utilization: A Systematic Review. *PLOS ONE*, 7(5):e35903, May 2012. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035903. URL https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0035903. Publisher: Public Library of Science.

- Brigham Frandsen, Lars Lefgren, and Emily Leslie. Judging judge fixed effects. *American Economic Review*, 113(1):253–77, January 2023a. doi: 10.1257/aer.20201860.
- Brigham Frandsen, Emily Leslie, and Samuel McIntyre. Cluster Jackknife Instrumental Variables Estimation. *Working Paper, Brigham Young University*, 2023b.
- Thomas P. Hoe. Does Hospital Crowding Matter? Evidence from Trauma and Orthopedics in England. American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 14 (2):231–262, May 2022. ISSN 1945-7731. doi: 10.1257/pol.20180672. URL https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/pol.20180672.
- Guido W. Imbens and Joshua D. Angrist. Identification and estimation of local average treatment effects. *Econometrica : journal of the Econometric Society*, 62(2):467–475, 1994. ISSN 00129682, 14680262.
- Jeffrey N. Katz, Robert H. Brophy, Christine E. Chaisson, Leigh de Chaves, Brian J. Cole, Diane L. Dahm, Laurel A. Donnell-Fink, Ali Guermazi, Amanda K. Haas, Morgan H. Jones, Bruce A. Levy, Lisa A. Mandl, Scott D. Martin, Robert G. Marx, Anthony Miniaci, Matthew J. Matava, Joseph Palmisano, Emily K. Reinke, Brian E. Richardson, Benjamin N. Rome, Clare E. Safran-Norton, Debra J. Skoniecki, Daniel H. Solomon, Matthew V. Smith, Kurt P. Spindler, Michael J. Stuart, John Wright, Rick W. Wright, and Elena Losina. Surgery versus Physical Therapy for a Meniscal Tear and Osteoarthritis. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368(18): 1675–1684, May 2013. ISSN 0028-4793. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1301408. URL https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1301408.
- Rebecca Lake, Andrew Georgiou, Julie Li, Ling Li, Mary Byrne, Maureen Robinson, and Johanna I. Westbrook. The quality, safety and governance of telephone triage and advice services – an overview of evidence from systematic reviews. BMC Health Services Research, 17(1):614, August 2017. ISSN 1472-6963. doi: 10.1186/ s12913-017-2564-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2564-x.
- Dominique Lauque, Anna Khalemsky, Zoubir Boudi, Linda Östlundh, Chang Xu, Mohammed Alsabri, Churchill Onyeji, Jacqueline Cellini, Geroge Intas, Kapil Dev Soni, Detajin Junhasavasdikul, Jose Javier Trujillano Cabello, Niels K. Rathlev, Shan W. Liu, Carlos A. Camargo, Anna Slagman, Michael Christ, Adam J. Singer, Charles-Henri Houze-Cerfon, Elhadi H. Aburawi, Karim Tazarourte, Lisa Kurland, Phillip D. Levy, James H. Paxton, Dionyssios Tsilimingras, Vijaya Arun Kumar, David G. Schwartz, Eddy Lang, David W. Bates, Gabriele Savioli, Shamai A. Grossman, and Abdelouahab Bellou. Length-of-Stay in the Emergency Department and In-Hospital

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage

Mortality: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 12(1):32, December 2022. ISSN 2077-0383. doi: 10.3390/jcm12010032.

- Claire Morley, Maria Unwin, Gregory M. Peterson, Jim Stankovich, and Leigh Kinsman. Emergency department crowding: A systematic review of causes, consequences and solutions. *PLOS ONE*, 13(8):e0203316, August 2018. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203316. URL https://journals.plos.org/plosone/ article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0203316. Publisher: Public Library of Science.
- Elizabeth L. Munnich and Stephen T. Parente. Returns to specialization: Evidence from the outpatient surgery market. *Journal of Health Economics*, 57:147–167, January 2018. ISSN 0167-6296. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.11.004. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0167629617310743.
- Maria C. Raven, Margot Kushel, Michelle J. Ko, Joanne Penko, and Andrew B. Bindman. The Effectiveness of Emergency Department Visit Reduction Programs: A Systematic Review. Annals of Emergency Medicine, 68(4):467–483.e15, October 2016. ISSN 0196-0644. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2016.04.015. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S019606441630083X.
- Sheldon M. Retchin, Sheryl L. Garland, and Emmanuel A. Anum. The transfer of uninsured patients from academic to community primary care settings. *The American Journal of Managed Care*, 15(4):245–252, April 2009. ISSN 1936-2692.
- Liam Rose. The Effects of Skilled Nursing Facility Care: Regression Discontinuity Evidence from Medicare. American Journal of Health Economics, 6(1): 39–71, January 2020. ISSN 2332-3493. doi: 10.1086/706864. URL https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/abs/10.1086/706864. Publisher: The University of Chicago Press.
- Amber K. Sabbatini, Brahmajee K. Nallamothu, and Keith E. Kocher. Reducing Variation In Hospital Admissions From The Emergency Department For Low-Mortality Conditions May Produce Savings. *Health Affairs*, 33(9):1655–1663, September 2014. ISSN 0278-2715. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1318. URL https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/abs/10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1318. Publisher: Health Affairs.
- Laura S. Sadowski, Romina A. Kee, Tyler J. VanderWeele, and David Buchanan. Effect of a Housing and Case Management Program on Emergency Department Visits and Hospitalizations Among Chronically III Homeless Adults: A Randomized Trial.

JAMA, 301(17):1771–1778, May 2009. ISSN 0098-7484. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009. 561. URL https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.561.

- Kirstin Woody Scott, Angela Liu, Carina Chen, Alexander S. Kaldjian, Amber K. Sabbatini, Herbert C. Duber, and Joseph L. Dieleman. Healthcare spending in U.S. emergency departments by health condition, 2006–2016. *PLoS ONE*, 16(10): e0258182, October 2021. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0258182. URL https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8550368/.
- Henrik Sigstad. Monotonicity among Judges: Evidence from Judicial Panels and Consequences for Judge IV Designs. *Working Paper*, 2023.
- David Silver. Haste or Waste? Peer Pressure and Productivity in the Emergency Department. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 88(3):1385–1417, May 2021. ISSN 0034-6527. doi: 10.1093/restud/rdaa054. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdaa054.
- David Silver and Jonathan Zhang. Invisible Wounds: Health and Well-Being Impacts of Mental Disorder Disability Compensation on Veterans. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series*, No. 29877, 2022. doi: 10.3386/w29877.
- Lesley J. J. Soril, Laura E. Leggett, Diane L. Lorenzetti, Tom W. Noseworthy, and Fiona M. Clement. Reducing Frequent Visits to the Emergency Department: A Systematic Review of Interventions. *PLOS ONE*, 10(4):e0123660, April 2015. ISSN 1932-6203. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0123660. URL https://journals.plos. org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0123660. Publisher: Public Library of Science.
- Alex J. Turner, Laura Anselmi, Yiu-Shing Lau, and Matt Sutton. The effects of unexpected changes in demand on the performance of emergency departments. *Health Economics*, 29(12):1744–1763, 2020. ISSN 1099-1050. doi: 10.1002/hec.4167. URL https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/hec.4167. \_eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/hec.4167.
- Lori Uscher-Pines, Jesse Pines, Arthur Kellermann, Emily Gillen, and Ateev Mehrotra. Emergency department visits for nonurgent conditions: systematic literature review. *The American journal of managed care*, 19(1):47–59, January 2013. ISSN 1936-2692. URL https://europepmc.org/articles/PMC4156292.
- Anita A. Vashi, Tracy Urech, Brendan Carr, Liberty Greene, Theodore Warsavage, Jr, Renee Hsia, and Steven M. Asch. Identification of Emergency Care–Sensitive Conditions and Characteristics of Emergency Department Utilization. JAMA Network Open,

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage

2(8):e198642, August 2019. ISSN 2574-3805. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019. 8642. URL https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.8642.

- Robin M. Weinick, Rachel M. Burns, and Ateev Mehrotra. Many Emergency Department Visits Could Be Managed At Urgent Care Centers And Retail Clinics. *Health Affairs*, 29(9):1630–1636, September 2010. ISSN 0278-2715. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0748. URL https://www.healthaffairs.org/doi/10.1377/hlthaff.2009.0748. Publisher: Health Affairs.
- Rachel M. Werner, Norma B. Coe, Mingyu Qi, and R. Tamara Konetzka. Patient Outcomes After Hospital Discharge to Home With Home Health Care vs to a Skilled Nursing Facility. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 179(5):617–623, May 2019. ISSN 2168-6106. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.7998. URL https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamainternmed.2018.7998.

§1.10 Tables and Figures

# § 1.10 Tables and Figures

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage



Figure 1.1: Randomization Check and First Stage

Note: This figure shows the distribution of leave-one-patient-out average of ED visits as described in Section 1.4.2. The x-axis represents the leave-out average of ED visits. The left y-axis represents density, scaled to maximum of 1. The solid line visually presents the first-stage relationship between the leave-one-out average of ED visits and patient ED visit status within three days since triage. The dashed line visually presents a balance check by a natural cubic spline regression of (residualized) predicted ED visit probability (on the right y-axis) on the leave-out average of ED visits. The corresponding linear first-stage and linear balance regression slope estimates are displayed at the top of figure.



Figure 1.2: First Stage Effects (1-30 Days Since Triage)

Note: This figure shows the first-stage estimates of Equation (1.2). We regress indicators of whether the patient has an ED visit within 1 to 30 days since triage on the leave-one-patient-out average of ED visits within three days since triage constructed by the method described in Section 1.4.2. Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2. Base 1 includes Prior Utilization 1 (primary care, VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission). Base 2 includes Prior Utilization 1 and Prior Utilization 2 (tele primary care, tele triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele mental health). The hold-out set includes patient demographics, prior diagnoses (Elixhauser comorbidity scores), and VA benefits eligibility. The 95% confidence intervals are constructed using standard errors clustered at the call-center level.



demographics, prior diagnoses (Elixhauser comorbidity scores), and VA benefits eligibility. The 95% confidence intervals are (primary care, VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission). Base 2 includes Prior Utilization 1 and Prior Utilization 2 (tele primary care, tele triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele mental health). The hold-out set includes patient constructed using standard errors clustered at the call-center level.



33



34



Figure 1.6: Effect of ED Visit on Mortality

the call-center level



Variables	Step 0	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8
Algorithm ED	0.303	0.306	0.305	0.268	0.265	0.26	0.266	0.266	0.265
Nurse ED	0.358	0.355	0.354	0.286	0.282	0.277	0.285	0.284	0.29
Call Duration	7.844	14.214	14.126	13.202	13.13	12.789	12.502	12.508	11.605
Age	61.312	60.477	60.463	60.77	60.589	60.554	60.553	60.551	61.096
Veteran	0.995	0.995	0.995	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.993
Married	0.475	0.473	0.473	0.491	0.496	0.496	0.498	0.498	0.488
Male	0.859	0.852	0.852	0.854	0.855	0.855	0.854	0.854	0.861
White	0.676	0.666	0.666	0.675	0.674	0.674	0.661	0.661	0.634
Black	0.176	0.18	0.18	0.176	0.177	0.177	0.185	0.185	0.19
Hispanic	0.066	0.071	0.071	0.067	0.068	0.068	0.071	0.071	0.058
Rural County	0.185	0.181	0.181	0.194	0.195	0.195	0.191	0.191	0.255
Previous Year Primary Care	0.856	0.853	0.853	0.858	0.851	0.851	0.853	0.853	0.85
Previous Year VA ED	0.347	0.348	0.348	0.308	0.29	0.289	0.293	0.293	0.252
Previous Year Non VA ED	0.185	0.173	0.173	0.157	0.145	0.144	0.142	0.142	0.174
Previous Year Inpatient	0.133	0.13	0.13	0.107	0.099	0.098	0.099	0.099	0.084
Previous Year Tele Primary Care	0.699	0.699	0.699	0.688	0.676	0.673	0.677	0.677	0.702
Previous Year Tele Triage	0.874	0.896	0.896	0.881	0.874	0.894	0.898	0.898	0.86
Previous Year Mental Health	0.285	0.289	0.289	0.271	0.263	0.263	0.264	0.264	0.25
Previous Year Clinical Pharmacy	0.301	0.296	0.296	0.272	0.261	0.26	0.264	0.264	0.253
Previous Year Tele Mental Health	0.251	0.25	0.25	0.229	0.221	0.222	0.22	0.22	0.217
Elix Current Score	3.802	3.771	3.77	3.614	3.542	3.534	3.548	3.546	3.53
Elix Corrected Score	4.352	4.309	4.308	4.144	4.07	4.061	4.076	4.075	4.085
ED 1d	0.173	0.199	0.199	0.162	0.159	0.157	0.16	0.159	0.155
ED 2d	0.21	0.24	0.24	0.192	0.189	0.186	0.189	0.189	0.183
ED 3d	0.223	0.254	0.253	0.203	0.199	0.196	0.2	0.2	0.194
PCP 1d	0.151	0.158	0.158	0.171	0.162	0.164	0.164	0.164	0.193
PCP 2d	0.23	0.243	0.243	0.257	0.247	0.25	0.251	0.251	0.296
PCP 3d	0.279	0.294	0.294	0.303	0.293	0.295	0.297	0.297	0.347
Admit 1d	0.022	0.023	0.023	0.019	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.018	0.017
Admit 2d	0.033	0.035	0.035	0.026	0.025	0.024	0.024	0.024	0.023
Admit 3d	0.036	0.039	0.038	0.028	0.027	0.026	0.027	0.027	0.025
Repeat Call 1d	0.034	0.018	0.018	0.014	0.012	0.012	0.011	0.011	0.011
Repeat Call 2d	0.044	0.028	0.028	0.02	0.018	0.018	0.017	0.017	0.018
Repeat Call 3d	0.052	0.036	0.036	0.026	0.023	0.023	0.022	0.022	0.023
Mortality 1d	0.001	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mortality 2d	0.001	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mortality 3d	0.001	0.001	0.001	0	0	0	0	0	0
Calls	4,930,385	3,378,539	3,375,685	2,301,816	1,982,806	1,836,659	1,661,096	1,656,381	320,145
Patients	2,044,447	1,638,708	1,637,575	1,300,324	1,245,346	1,161,894	1,053,487	1,049,952	199,997
Nurses	6,866	3,888	3,881	3,518	3,058	1,421	1,293	1,290	248
Call Centers	101	101	101	101	101	96	74	72	28

Table 1.1: Characteristics of Baseline Sample

Note: This table presents average call characteristics at each step of the sample restrictions to construct the analysis sample, detailed in Appendix Table A1.1. Algorithm ED and Nurse ED are triage indicators that equal 1 if call *i* is recommended ED. Veteran status, marital status, race and ethnicity, and rural residence are binary indicators. Previous year utilization indicators take 1 if the patient associated with call *i* had respective utilization events at least once in the past 365 days. Elixhauser scores are the total count of 31 comorbidity indices. "Current" scores count recorded diagnoses during a given fiscal year, whereas "corrected" scores look back at two fiscal years of recorded diagnoses and assign the patient the higher comorbidity count of those two years. Post-triage ED and PCP indicators measure ED and primary care physician visits within 1 to 3 days since triage.

	• •	-		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053
	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 1.2: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.327	-0.335	-0.333	-0.335
	(0.088)	(0.092)	(0.092)	(0.093)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 1.3: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.023	-0.038	-0.036	-0.041
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.031)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 1.4: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.043)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 1.5: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(		<i>J j j</i>		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 1.6: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 1.7: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage

Variable	Compliers	SE	Overall Mean
Age	61.304	(0.859)	61.096
Veteran	1.000	(0.001)	0.993
Male	0.854	(0.026)	0.861
White	0.624	(0.085)	0.634
Black	0.277	(0.088)	0.190
Hispanic	0.020	(0.005)	0.058
Asian Other	0.036	(0.007)	0.068
Rural County	0.185	(0.046)	0.255
Priority Score Highly Disabled	0.473	(0.033)	0.486
Priority Score Low Moderate Disability	0.206	(0.016)	0.192
Priority Score Low Income	0.168	(0.013)	0.181
Priority Score Non Disabled Copay Required	0.141	(0.010)	0.122
Period of Service Vietnam	0.392	(0.036)	0.403
Period of Service Gulf	0.399	(0.029)	0.385
Period of Service Post Vietnam	0.154	(0.020)	0.153
Period of Service Korean	0.024	(0.006)	0.030
Period of Service Post Korean	0.024	(0.004)	0.018
Period of Service WW2	0.005	(0.002)	0.008
Service Connection 100	0.178	(0.019)	0.160
Service Connection 50 99	0.271	(0.018)	0.302
Service Connection 0 49	0.209	(0.017)	0.189
Service Connection No	0.327	(0.019)	0.329
Previous Year Primary Care	0.821	(0.027)	0.850
Previous Year VA ED	0.389	(0.037)	0.252
Previous Year Non VA ED	0.180	(0.026)	0.174
Previous Year Inpatient	0.124	(0.016)	0.084
Previous Year Tele Primary Care	0.717	(0.022)	0.702
Previous Year Tele Triage	0.917	(0.049)	0.860
Previous Year Mental Health	0.225	(0.017)	0.250
Previous Year Clinical Pharmacy	0.289	(0.022)	0.253
Previous Year Tele Mental Health	0.225	(0.017)	0.217
Elix Corrected Score	4.420	(0.161)	4.085

Table 1.8: Complier Characteristics

Note: This table presents average complier characteristics and the sample average among all calls in the analysis sample. Average complier characteristics are estimated using Abadie's kappa method. Specifically, we implement 2SLS regressions of the interaction between each covariate and ED visit indicator on ED visit indicator, where the right-hand-side ED visit indicator is instrumented by the leave-out average of ED visits. Regressions include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call-center level.

§1.11 Appendix Tables and Figures

## § 1.11 Appendix Tables and Figures



controls described in Appendix Table A1.2. Standard errors are clustered at the call-center-by-month-year level.

Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage





replacing D with 1 - D. Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2. Standard errors are clustered at the call-center-by-month-year level.







Figure A1.4: Average Potential Mortality

in Appendix Table A1.2. Standard errors are clustered at the call-center-by-month-year level.



50





§1.11 Appendix Tables and Figures

are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2.



probability of hospital admission via ED within 1 to 30 days by prior year hospital admission status. Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2. Note: This figure presents 2SLS and OLS estimates of the effect of having an ED visit (within 3 days since triage) on the



probability of primary care visit within 1 to 30 days by patient age (over 65 or not). Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2. Note: This figure presents 2SLS and OLS estimates of the effect of having an ED visit (within 3 days since triage) on the



Chapter 1 What Does the Emergency Department Do?: Evidence from a Nurse Triage



probability of primary care visit within 1 to 30 days by prior year hospital admission status. Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2.






probability of repeat call within 1 to 30 days by prior year ED visit status. Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2.



58



probability of death within 1 to 30 days by patient age (over 65 or not). Call-center-by-month-year fixed effects are included in all Note: This figure presents 2SLS and OLS estimates of the effect of having an ED visit (within 3 days since triage) on the regressions. We sequentially add the sets of controls described in Appendix Table A1.2.



60



Figure A1.16: Effect of ED Visit on Mortality (by Prior Admission)

	lable A1.1: Selection of	Baseline Sa	umple		
Step	Description	Calls	Patients	Nurses	Call Centers
0	All symptom calls with complete IDs and dates.	4,930,385	2,044,447	6,866	101
1	Drop calls with incomplete triage disposition values (follow-up locations and intervals recommended by nurse & algorithm).	3,378,539	1,638,708	3,888	101
7	Drop calls from patients younger than 20 or older than 99; Drop calls from patients in inpatient facilities.	3,375,685	1,637,575	3,881	101
ς	Drop calls received during non-business hours (before 8 am; after 4 pm; weekends; holidays).	2,301,816	1,300,324	3,518	101
4	Drop calls from patients with the most recent prior call within 30 days.	1,982,806	1,245,346	3,058	101
S	Drop calls received by nurses with less than or equal to 100 calls per year.	1,836,659	1,161,894	1,421	96
9	Drop calls received in call centers that experience consolidation during the analysis period.	1,661,096	1,053,487	1,293	74
Г	Drop calls received in call centers with only one nurse per month-year.	1,656,381	1,049,952	1,290	72
8	Restrict to call centers for which patient age is balanced across nurses.	320,145	199,997	248	28
Notes nurses	: This table describes sample restriction steps to construct the a , and call centers at each step. Table 1.1 presents average call	nalysis sample. characteristics	The table lists at each step.	the number	c of calls, patients,

Variables	Number of Indicators
Call-Center-by-Call-Time FEs	
Call-Center-by-Month-Year	1,017
Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week	139
Call-Center-by-Year-by-Day-of-Week	509
Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week	1,640
Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week-by-AM	279
Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week-by-Hour-of-Day	1,118
Call-Center-by-Month-Year-by-Day-of-Week	5,055
Call-Center-by-Month-Year-by-Hour-of-Day	8,067
Prior Utilization 1	
Previous Year Primary Care	1
Previous Year VA ED	1
Previous Year Non VA ED	1
Previous Year Inpatient	1
Prior Utilization 2	
Previous Year Tele Primary Care	1
Previous Year Tele Triage	1
Previous Year Mental Health	1
Previous Year Clinical Pharmacy	1
Previous Year Tele Mental Health	1
Hold-Out Controls	
Age bins (5-year)	12
Male	1
Veteran (Y, N, NA)	2
Race (White, Black, Hispanic, Asian/Other, NA)	4
Rural County (Y, N)	1
Income Bin (1st-3rd terciles, NA)	3
Priority Score (High-, Low-/Moderate-, No-Disability; Low-Income; NA)	4
Service Connection (No SC, 0-49, 50-99, 100, NA)	4
Period of Service (Vietnam, Gulf, Post-Vietnam, Korean, Post-Korean, WW2, Other)	6
Elix Corrected Score bins (1-10, 11+, NA)	11

Table A1.2: List of Control Variables

Note: This table lists control variables. Sets of indicators are constructed from each control. Column 2 shows the number of indicators generated from each control. Call-Center-by-Call-Month-Year FEs are included in the main analysis. Robustness checks use FEs at the different granularity. Prior Utilization 1, Prior Utilization 2, and Hold-Out Controls are sequentially added in robustness checks. All covariates are used to obtain the predicted ED visit probability for randomization check.

Variable	Subsample	Observations	Mean ED Visit	Estimate	SE
Age	65 and Over	153,906	0.199	0.827	(0.045)
Age	Below 65	166,239	0.189	0.834	(0.036)
Sex	Female	44,588	0.185	0.767	(0.032)
Sex	Male	275,557	0.195	0.842	(0.043)
Race Ethnicity	Asian/Other	21,637	0.148	0.889	(0.108)
Race Ethnicity	Black	60,701	0.226	0.844	(0.035)
Race Ethnicity	Hispanic	18,562	0.145	0.582	(0.109)
Race Ethnicity	White	202,870	0.195	0.833	(0.047)
Race Ethnicity	na	16,375	0.177	0.854	(0.059)
Rural County	No	238,525	0.195	0.843	(0.037)
Rural County	Yes	81,620	0.191	0.788	(0.055)
Priority Score	Group 1,4 Highly disabled	155,651	0.200	0.847	(0.037)
Priority Score	Group 2,3,6 Low/moderate disability	61,526	0.182	0.818	(0.064)
Priority Score	Group 5 Low-Income	57,962	0.200	0.763	(0.061)
Priority Score	Group 7-8 Non-Disabled, copayment required	39,105	0.174	0.961	(0.053)
Priority Score	na	5,901	0.221	0.508	(0.088)
Service Connection	1 No SC	105,225	0.189	0.836	(0.048)
Service Connection	2 SC 0-49	60,372	0.186	0.841	(0.073)
Service Connection	3 SC 50-99	96,548	0.193	0.825	(0.045)
Service Connection	4 SC 100	51,132	0.211	0.880	(0.054)
Service Connection	na	6,868	0.218	0.538	(0.084)
ED Visits in Prior Year	No	198,393	0.151	0.761	(0.048)
ED Visits in Prior Year	Yes	121,752	0.264	0.903	(0.032)
Inpatient Admissions in Prior Year	No	293,287	0.185	0.817	(0.037)
Inpatient Admissions in Prior Year	Yes	26,858	0.294	0.918	(0.067)
Elix Score	1 to 5	209,170	0.185	0.828	(0.039)
Elix Score	11+	12,319	0.244	0.794	(0.095)
Elix Score	6 to 10	47,673	0.263	0.892	(0.035)
Elix Score	na	50,983	0.154	0.744	(0.062)
Algorithm Recommendation	ED	84,961	0.437	0.618	(0.087)
Algorithm Recommendation	Non-ED	235,184	0.106	0.401	(0.071)

Table A1.3: Monotonicity Test

Note: This table presents monotonicity test results. We estimate first-stage coefficients on different subsamples of triage calls. Regressions include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call-center level.

(a) CC-YM (Main)							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053			
	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)			
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145			
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025			
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х			
Hold-Out Controls				Х			

Table A1.4: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

Table A1.4: (Cont.) Ef	fect of ED Vi	sit (within 3	Days) on	Hospital A	Admission	(within
3 Days)						

(b) CC-YM + CC-DoW						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.054		
	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.018)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		
FE: CC-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

Table A1.4: (Cont.)	Effect of ED	Visit (within 3	B Days) on I	Hospital A	Admission	(within
3 Days)						

(c) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-AM

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
0.062	0.059	0.058	0.055
(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.018)
320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025
Х	Х	Х	Х
Х	Х	Х	Х
Х	Х	Х	Х
	Х	Х	Х
		Х	Х
			Х
	(1) 0.062 (0.017) 320,145 0.025 X X X X	(1)(2)0.0620.059(0.017)(0.017)320,145320,1450.0250.025XXXXXXXXXXXXXX	(1)(2)(3)0.0620.0590.058(0.017)(0.017)(0.017)320,145320,145320,1450.0250.0250.025XXX

	/	<b>`</b>	<b>.</b> /	1	· ·
3 Day	vs)				

67

Table A1.4: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.063	0.059	0.058	0.055
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.018)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-HoD	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(d) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-HoW

(a) CC-YM (Main)						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
ED Visit	-0.327	-0.335	-0.333	-0.335		
	(0.088)	(0.092)	(0.092)	(0.093)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

Table A1.5: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

Table A1.5: (Cont.)	Effect of ED	Visit (within	3 Days) or	n Primary	Care	Visit (	within 3
Days)							

(b) CC-YM + CC-DoW					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
ED Visit	-0.311	-0.319	-0.317	-0.319	
	(0.089)	(0.093)	(0.093)	(0.094)	
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145	
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347	
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х	
FE: CC-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х	
Hold-Out Controls				Х	

70

Table A1.5: (Cont.) Effect of H	D Visit (within 3 Days) or	n Primary Care	Visit (within 3
Days)			

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.314	-0.320	-0.321	-0.324
	(0.081)	(0.085)	(0.085)	(0.086)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-AM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.5: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.311	-0.317	-0.317	-0.320
	(0.079)	(0.083)	(0.083)	(0.084)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-HoD	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(d) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-HoW

(a) CC-YM (Main)					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
ED Visit	-0.023	-0.038	-0.036	-0.041	
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.031)	
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145	
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480	
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х	
Hold-Out Controls				Х	

Table A1.6: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

73

Table A1.6: (Cont.) Effect of ED	Visit (within 3 Days) or	n Primary Care	Visit (between
4 and 30 Days)			

(b) CC-YM + CC-DoW				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.029	-0.043	-0.041	-0.047
	(0.035)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.032)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.6: (Cont.) Effect of ED	Visit (within 3 Days) on	Primary Care	Visit (between
4 and 30 Days)			

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.026	-0.040	-0.040	-0.045
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.031)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-AM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(c) CC-Y-DoW + CC	$-M-D_0W + CC$	-DoW-AM

Table A1.6: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.027	-0.042	-0.041	-0.047
	(0.033)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.031)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-HoD	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(d) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-HoW

(a) CC-YM (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.043)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.7: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

77

Table A1.7: (Cont.) Effect of ED	Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED	Visit (between 4
and 30 Days)		

(b) CC-YM + CC-DoW				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.043)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.7: (Cont.) Effect of ED	Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED	Visit (between 4
and 30 Days)		

(c) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-AM

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.068	0.048	0.046	0.043
	(0.041)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.033)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-AM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.7: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.069	0.048	0.047	0.044
	(0.040)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.032)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-HoD	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(d) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-HoW

(a) CC-YM (Main) (3) (4)(1)(2)**ED** Visit -0.013 -0.015 -0.015 -0.015 (0.010)(0.010)(0.010)(0.010)320,145 Observations 320,145 320,145 320,145 0.023 0.023 0.023 0.023 Dependent Variable Mean Х Х Х Х FE: CC-by-YM Prior Utilization 1 Х Х Х **Prior Utilization 2** Х Х Hold-Out Controls Х

Table A1.8: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(0) CC-YM + CC-DOW				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.015	-0.016
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.8: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(b) CC-YM + CC-DoW

(c) CC-1-D0W	+ CC-M-DC	W + CC-D0		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.014	-0.015	-0.016	-0.016
	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-AM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.8: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(c)  $CC_{2}V_{2}D_{0}W + CC_{2}M_{2}D_{0}W + CC_{2}D_{0}W_{2}AM$ 

(d) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-HoW					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.016	-0.016	
	(0.009)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145	
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023	
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х	
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х	
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-HoD	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х	
Hold-Out Controls				Х	

Table A1.8: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(a) CC-YM (Main) (3) (4)(1)(2)**ED** Visit -0.001 -0.001 -0.001 -0.001 (0.002)(0.002)(0.002)(0.002)Observations 320,145 320,145 320,145 320,145 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 Dependent Variable Mean Х Х Х Х FE: CC-by-YM Prior Utilization 1 Х Х Х **Prior Utilization 2** Х Х Hold-Out Controls Х

Table A1.9: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(b) CC-YM + CC-DoW				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.9: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

86

(c) CC-Y-DoW	v + CC-M-Do	W + CC-Do	W-AM	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-AM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.9: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(d) CC-Y-DoW + CC-M-DoW + CC-DoW-HoW						
(1) (2) (3) (4)						
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001		
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000		
FE: CC-by-Y-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х		
FE: CC-by-M-by-DoW	Х	Х	Х	Х		
FE: CC-by-DoW-by-HoD	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

Table A1.9: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(a) Leave-One-Patient-Out (Main)						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053		
	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

Table A1.10: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

## Table A1.10: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

(b) Leave-One-Call-Out							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053			
	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.017)			
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145			
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025			
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х			
Hold-Out Controls				Х			

(c) Non-Residualized						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
ED Visit	0.063	0.060	0.059	0.056		
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.018)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

Table A1.10: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)
### Table A1.10: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

(d) All Years Pooled					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.057	0.055	
	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.017)	
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145	
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025	
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х	
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х	
Hold-Out Controls				Х	

(a) Leave-One-Patient-Out (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.327	-0.335	-0.333	-0.335
	(0.088)	(0.092)	(0.092)	(0.093)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.11: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

#### Table A1.11: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

(b) Leave-One-Call-Out				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.325	-0.333	-0.331	-0.333
	(0.088)	(0.092)	(0.091)	(0.092)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(c) Non-Residualized				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.317	-0.325	-0.324	-0.326
	(0.086)	(0.090)	(0.090)	(0.091)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.11: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

## Table A1.11: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

(d) All Years Pooled						
(1) (2) (3) (4)						
ED Visit	-0.305	-0.311	-0.312	-0.314		
	(0.094)	(0.097)	(0.096)	(0.097)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

## Table A1.12: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.023	-0.038	-0.036	-0.041
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.031)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(a) Leave-One-Patient-Out (Main)

#### Table A1.12: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(b) Leave-One-Call-Out				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.025	-0.039	-0.038	-0.043
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.031)	(0.030)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(c) Non-Residualized				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.027	-0.043	-0.041	-0.046
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.030)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.12: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

#### Table A1.12: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(d) All Years Pooled				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.010	-0.022	-0.023	-0.027
	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.034)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

### Table A1.13: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

		· · · · ·		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.043)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(a) Leave-One-Patient-Out (Main)

### Table A1.13: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(b) Leave-One-Call-Out				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.036
	(0.043)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(c) Non-Residualized				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.058	0.037	0.035	0.033
	(0.044)	(0.036)	(0.036)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.13: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

### Table A1.13: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(d) All Years Pooled				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.059	0.042	0.040	0.038
	(0.037)	(0.030)	(0.030)	(0.030)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(a) Leave-One-Patient-Out (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.14: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(b) Leave-One-Call-Out				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.014	-0.015	-0.016	-0.016
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.14: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(c) Non-Residualized				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.010	-0.011	-0.012	-0.012
	(0.010)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.011)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.14: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(d) All Years Pooled				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.015	-0.016	-0.017	-0.017
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.14: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(a) Leave-One-Patient-Out (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.15: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(b) Leave-One-Call-Out				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.15: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(c) Non-Residualized				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.15: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(d) All Years Pooled				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.15: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

(a) SE Clustered at Call Center (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053
	(0.016)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.16: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

Table A1.16: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

		•		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(b) SE Clustered at Call-Center-by-Month-Year

Table A1.16: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Hospital Admission (within 3 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.057	0.056	0.053
	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.025	0.025	0.025	0.025
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(c) Heteroskedasticity-Robust SE

(a) SE Clustered at Call Center (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.327	-0.335	-0.333	-0.335
	(0.088)	(0.092)	(0.092)	(0.093)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.17: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

116

Table A1.17: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

		•		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.327	-0.335	-0.333	-0.335
	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.032)	(0.032)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(b) SE Clustered at Call-Center-by-Month-Year

Table A1.17: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (within 3 Days)

(c) Heteroskedasticity-Robust SE				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.327	-0.335	-0.333	-0.335
	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.025)	(0.026)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Note: This table reports IV estimates of the effect of ED visit (within 3 days since triage). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Control variables in all specifications are described in Appendix. Prior utilization 1 includes previous year VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission. Prior utilization 2 includes previous year tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health. Hold-out controls include demographics, socioeconomic status, combat history, eligibility for benefits, and prior diagnoses (Elixhauser scores). Heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors are reported.

## Table A1.18: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.023	-0.038	-0.036	-0.041
	(0.033)	(0.031)	(0.032)	(0.031)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(a) SE Clustered at Call Center (Main)

### Table A1.18: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between4 and 30 Days)

(;, = = ==== ===========================				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.023	-0.038	-0.036	-0.041
	(0.027)	(0.028)	(0.028)	(0.028)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(b) SE Clustered at Call-Center-by-Month-Year

### Table A1.18: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Primary Care Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(c) Helefoskedusterty Robust SE				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.023	-0.038	-0.036	-0.041
	(0.027)	(0.028)	(0.027)	(0.027)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.480	0.480	0.480	0.480
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(c) Heteroskedasticity-Robust SE

#### Table A1.19: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.043)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.035)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(a) SE Clustered at Call Center (Main)

Table A1.19: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

		•		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.019)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(b) SE Clustered at Call-Center-by-Month-Year

# Table A1.19: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat ED Visit (between 4 and 30 Days)

(c) Heteroskedasticity-Robust SE				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	0.060	0.040	0.039	0.037
	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.018)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.099	0.099	0.099	0.099
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

(a) SE Clustered at Call Center (Main)				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.20: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

(b) SE Clustered at Call-Center-by-Month-Year				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.20: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)

126

(c) Heteroskedasticity-Robust SE				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
ED Visit	-0.013	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145
Dependent Variable Mean	0.023	0.023	0.023	0.023
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table A1.20: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Repeat Call (within 3 Days)
(a) SE Clustered at Call Center (Main)							
	(1) (2) (3)						
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001			
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)			
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145			
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х			
Hold-Out Controls				Х			

Table A1.21: Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

Note: This table reports IV estimates of the effect of ED visit (within 3 days since triage). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Control variables in all specifications are described in Appendix. Prior utilization 1 includes previous year VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission. Prior utilization 2 includes previous year tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health. Hold-out controls include demographics, socioeconomic status, combat history, eligibility for benefits, and prior diagnoses (Elixhauser scores). Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.

(b) SE Clustered at Call-Center-by-Month-Year							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)			
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001			
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)			
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145			
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х			
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х			
Hold-Out Controls				Х			

Table A1.21: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

Note: This table reports IV estimates of the effect of ED visit (within 3 days since triage). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Control variables in all specifications are described in Appendix. Prior utilization 1 includes previous year VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission. Prior utilization 2 includes previous year tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health. Hold-out controls include demographics, socioeconomic status, combat history, eligibility for benefits, and prior diagnoses (Elixhauser scores). Standard errors are clustered at the call-center-by-month-year level.

129

(c) Heteroskedasticity-Robust SE						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
ED Visit	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001	-0.001		
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)		
Observations	320,145	320,145	320,145	320,145		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х		
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х		
Hold-Out Controls				Х		

Table A1.21: (Cont.) Effect of ED Visit (within 3 Days) on Mortality (within 3 Days)

Note: This table reports IV estimates of the effect of ED visit (within 3 days since triage). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Control variables in all specifications are described in Appendix. Prior utilization 1 includes previous year VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission. Prior utilization 2 includes previous year tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health. Hold-out controls include demographics, socioeconomic status, combat history, eligibility for benefits, and prior diagnoses (Elixhauser scores). Heteroskedasticity-robust standard errors are reported.

## **Chapter 2**

# How Do Telephone Triage Nurses Affect Patient ED Utilization?<sup>1</sup>

### § 2.1 Introduction

Human decision-making agents often make substantially different choices for the same problems. Physicians differ in their tendency to prescribe certain treatments for observably similar patients (Phelps, 2000; Grytten and Sørensen, 2003; Epstein and Nicholson, 2009; Chandra et al., 2011; Van Parys and Skinner, 2016; Molitor, 2018). Bail judges differ in their propensity to grant pretrial release for similar defendants (Dobbie et al., 2018; Kleinberg et al., 2018). Disability examiners diverge in their generosity of granting disability claims (Maestas et al., 2013; French and Song, 2014; Dahl et al., 2014; Autor et al., 2019). Such cross-agent variation and its consequences on individuals' outcomes draws interest from researchers and policymakers. For researchers, these judge-fixed effects designs have become an increasingly popular way to find the effect

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The views expressed herein are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect those of the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or the Veterans Health Administrations.

of treatments that could otherwise not be randomized (Chyn et al., 2024). For policymakers, there is often interest in reducing the variation in agent tendencies in order to ensure equitable outcomes.

This study analyzes variations in practice styles across nurses in a telephone triage call center. These triage lines are nearly ubiquitous across the US and other developed countries, providing patients with the opportunity to receive prompt medical advice and better determine the appropriate level of care. Most often, these triage lines operate by having registered nurses evaluate patient symptoms and recommend the appropriate healthcare disposition following a decision-support algorithm. While these decision-support tools standardizes the triage process, nurses can still exercise disposition recommended by the algorithm. Second, nurses can intensify verbal communication (e.g., changing voice, tone, or word choices) to ensure patient compliance with the triage recommendations. The two margins of nurse discretion generate variations in triage styles across nurses.

This paper exploits quasi-random assignment of calls to nurses within call centers to isolate nurse heterogeneity in triage styles from patient heterogeneity in health conditions. For this, I examine nurse triage lines operated by the US Department of Veterans Affairs (VA). These lines are available nationally to VA enrollees, but VA operationalizes them with nurses grouped into location-based call centers. For the most part, these lines work similarly to lines provided by major insurance companies, private health care groups, and national health care systems such as the NHS. Callers are routed to an available nurse, and the nurse walks the caller through a series of questions aided by the decision-support algorithm. At the end of the call, the nurse can answer medical questions and provide a recommendation for follow-up care, including self-care, an in-person visit with a provider, or immediate medical attention. As such, I construct a measure of nurse tendency to recommend an immediate emergency department (ED) visit and a verbal communication intensity measure using telephone triage data from the call centers. Then, I examine whether variations in those nurse tendency measures translate to variations in patient post-triage healthcare utilization. Under quasi-random assignment, differences in patient post-triage outcomes across nurses can be interpreted as counterfactuals when patients were assigned to a nurse with a different triage style.

My nurse triage tendency measures reveal substantial cross-nurse variation in ED recommendations and verbal communication for on-average similar patients. After accounting for call-center-by-time effects, the average ED recommendation propensity differs by 25.5 percentage points (sample average = 29%), and the average call duration differs by 9.2 minutes (sample average = 10.6 minutes) between two nurses in the 5th and 95th percentile of the respective measure. Those heterogeneous triage styles translate to differences in patient healthcare utilization outcomes. My reduced-form estimates suggest that patients are more likely to visit an ED if triaged by nurses who tend to recommend ED more and talk longer. Reassigning a call to a nurse with a 10 percentage points higher average ED recommendation propensity and a 10 minutes longer average call duration increases the probability of having an ED visit within 3 days by 6.5 percentage points.

This study contributes to several strands of literature. First, it is related to a large body of literature on practice variation in health care. While existing studies document evidence of substantial variation in physicians' practice styles and consequences in patients' outcomes, less is known about practice variation among other healthcare

professions and whether such variation affects patient outcomes. Among a few exceptions, Chan et al. (2022) propose a framework to identify agent heterogeneity in skill and preferences when cases are quasi-randomly assigned. Applying their framework to VA radiologist data, they report that a large component of cross-radiologist variation in pneumonia diagnosis rates is attributable to differences in diagnostic skill. I similarly exploit quasi-random allocation of incoming calls within VA call centers and document heterogeneous triage patterns across VA triage nurses.

Second, this paper is also related to the growing literature on the role of human decision-makers when they oversee predictive algorithms (Hoffman et al., 2018; Kleinberg et al., 2018; Frankel, 2021; Mullainathan and Obermeyer, 2022; Agarwal et al., 2023; Angelova et al., 2023). Prior studies report that human decision-makers often underperform algorithmic recommendations. Mullainathan and Obermeyer (2022) compare physicians' diagnoses for heart attacks to machine learning predictions of the probability of heart attack. Examining cases where physicians deviate from predicted risk, they show that physicians over- and under-diagnose heart attacks. Angelova et al. (2023) report that bail judges differ in their performance in assessing defendants' pretrial misconduct risk and that 90% of the judges underperform a predictive algorithm in risk assessment.

The rest of this paper proceeds as follows. The rest of this paper proceeds as follows. Section 2.2 provides the background of VA health care and the telephone program. Section 2.3 describes data sources and analysis sample construction. Section 2.4 presents a reduced-form analysis framework. Section 2.5 presents results. Section 2.6 discusses methodological implications for examiner design. Section 2.7 concludes.

### § 2.2 Background

The Veterans Health Administration (VHA) of the US Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) operates the nation's largest integrated healthcare delivery system, with around 170 medical centers and over 1,000 outpatient facilities. The VA provides inpatient and outpatient care to around 11 million enrollees, with approximately 6 million users annually. The VA reimburses for ED care at any hospital in emergencies, and about 5-10 percent of the VA health spending is devoted to this benefit, driven mainly by subsequent inpatient admissions. The VA divides the US into 18 operational regions (VISNs), with each VISN subdivided into local units called "stations." A station typically has a tertiary care hospital, ED, medical centers, and outpatient clinics.

The VA is known as an early adopter of telehealth, providing many medical services remotely. Across the US, the VA operates nurse advice lines that allow patients to call for many reasons, from appointment-making to directions. Five VISNs have a centralized call center for each, whereas the other VISNs have multiple call centers at a (or a group of) station(s) level. Some call centers are open 24/7/365, while others are closed during non-business hours (typically before 8 AM and after 4 PM).

When a veteran patient calls for triage, the next available nurse is assigned to assess the patient's health care needs and recommend appropriate follow-up care. The triage nurse evaluates patient symptoms using a decision-support algorithm, common to all nurses and call centers.<sup>2</sup> The algorithm standardizes the triage process. First, the nurse talks to the patient and gathers and inputs basic patient information into the algorithm, such as age, gender, chief complaint, and pain scale. Second, the algorithm prompts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The algorithm is proprietary software developed by a third-party contractor and is similar to the software used in other nurse triage lines.

clinical questions based on the initial inputs. Third, the nurse further communicates with the patient and enters the patient's responses to those clinical questions into the algorithm. Fourth, the algorithm recommends a follow-up location (e.g., ED, Urgent Care, Clinic, Home) and interval (Now-911, Now, 2-8h, 12-24h, 24-48h). Appendix Figures A2.8a-A2.8f provide an example of the algorithm screen at each stage (DSHI Systems).

While the decision-support algorithm standardizes the triage process, nurses can still exercise discretion through two key channels. First, nurses are allowed to override the triage disposition recommended by the algorithm. Second, nurses can intensify verbal communication (e.g., changing voice, tone, or word choices) to ensure patient compliance with the triage recommendations. Overall, the nurses tend to recommend more intensive care than the algorithm. While the nurses recommend ED to 29 percent of the calls, the algorithm recommends ED to 26.5 percent. The triage records reveal that some nurses explicitly issue a warning message to ensure patient compliance (e.g., "You can experience serious health consequences if you do not seek immediate care.").

### § 2.3 Data

I construct my analysis sample from multiple VA administrative data sources, including nurse triage records, healthcare utilization records from emergency departments and primary care facilities, and patient demographics from the VA patient roster. Appendix Table A2.1 describes sample restriction steps and the number of calls, patients, nurses, and call centers at each step.

#### **2.3.1 Data Sources and Sample Construction**

I start with the universe of telephone triage cases received in all call centers across the US from July 1, 2018, to December 31, 2022. The triage records have information at the call level, including triage date-time (year, month, day, hour, and minute), patient ID, triage nurse ID, station (call center) ID, triage disposition (recommended follow-up location and timing), call duration (in minutes), and free-entry notes.

This study imposes several sample restrictions to construct the analysis sample. First, I restrict the sample to the calls received during weekday business hours (between 8 am and 4 pm), as some call centers do not offer telephone triage during non-business hours and transfer calls to other call centers or non-VA contractors. Second, I focus on the index triage cases by removing calls from patients with the most recent prior triage within the past 30 days. Third, I restrict the sample to the calls triaged by nurses with at least 100 calls per year to reduce noise in nurse triage practice measures. Fourth, I drop calls in call-center-by-month-by-year cells with only one nurse to ensure that calls had a chance of being as good as randomly assigned to different nurses. Lastly, I select a subset of 28 call centers from the remaining 72 call centers where patient age is balanced across nurses. Specifically, I regress patient age on nurse dummies and call-time dummies (day-of-week, hour-of-day, and month-year indicators) for each call center. Then, I only retain call centers for which the F-test of joint significance of nurse dummies fails to reject at the 10% significance level.<sup>3</sup> After those restrictions, the analysis sample consists of 319,830 calls (from 199,841 patients) received by 248

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Chan et al. (2022) use a similar last step for their main sample construction to ensure quasi-random assignment of VA radiologists to veteran patients' chest X-ray exams. Similar to their study, although we expect nurse assignment to be as good as random in all call centers, our interviews with nurse managers suggest organizational and managerial structure can differ across call centers in ways that call-center-by-call-date-time indicators may not perfectly absorb confounding variations.

nurses at 28 call centers.

The triage sample is linked to the primary outcomes of interest: post-triage healthcare utilization at emergency departments and primary care facilities. Using VA and non-VA ED visit records, I construct indicators of patients having at least one ED visit within 1 to 30 days of the triage call. Primary care visit indicators are similarly constructed using records from VA-affiliated primary care facilities.

For randomization and robustness checks, I gather patients' prior healthcare utilization (within 365 days of the triage), prior diagnoses (31 Elixhauser comorbidity indices), VA's benefits eligibility status (priority group indicators), and demographics (e.g., age, gender, marital status). Appendix Table A2.2 lists all control variables used for randomization and robustness checks.

Table 2.1 presents average call characteristics at each step of the sample restrictions. In the analysis sample (Step 9), nurses recommend ED visit at a higher rate than the algorithm (29% vs. 26.5%). The average call duration is 10.6 minutes. The average call is from near-elderly patient (average age = 61) with high rates of previous year healthcare utilization (primary care = 85%, VA ED = 25.2%, non-VA ED = 17.4%, telephone triage = 86%). Roughly 19.4% of the calls result in at least one ED visit within 3 days since triage call, and 34.7% of the calls result in primary care visit.

### § 2.4 Method

#### 2.4.1 Overview

This study quantifies variations in practice styles across telephone triage nurses for similar patients and analyzes how such variations affect patient healthcare utilization.

Once assigned to a call, the nurse evaluates the patient's symptoms and recommends the appropriate healthcare disposition using a decision-support algorithm. Although the decision-support tool standardizes the triage protocol, the nurse can still exercise discretion through (i) overriding the triage disposition recommended by the algorithm and (ii) intensifying verbal communication (e.g., changing voice, tone, or word choices) to ensure patient compliance with the triage recommendations. In what follows, I propose a method to capture cross-nurse variations in the two margins of nurse discretion and estimate how those variations affect patient post-triage utilization outcomes.

#### 2.4.2 Reduced-Form Model

I consider a reduced-form model that explains patient ED visit by assigned nurse's average triage styles. Specifically, for call *i* from patient k(i) received by nurse *j*, suppose that patient k(i)'s ED visit is determined by nurse- and call-specific factors:

(2.1)  
$$ED_{k(i)} = \lambda_j^{Visit} + \alpha_i^{Visit}$$
$$= \lambda_j^{Visit} + \mathbf{X}_i' \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{Visit} + u_i^{Visit}$$

where  $ED_{k(i)}$  is an indicator of whether patient k(i) has at least one ED visit (within 3 days) after triage, and  $\lambda_j^{Visit}$  is nurse *j*'s average tendency to have patients visit an ED. Call-specific factor  $\alpha_i^{Visit}$  is divided into observable variables  $X_i$  (call-center-by-call-time fixed effects) and an unobserved error term  $u_i^{Visit}$ .

As discussed above, nurse j can exercise her discretion in triage by (i) adjusting the triage recommendation and (ii) changing verbal communication. I rewrite the nurse j effect in Equation (2.1) as a function of nurse j's average ED recommendation and

average verbal communication intensity as follows:

(2.2) 
$$\lambda_j^{Visit} = f\left(\lambda_j^{Rec}, \lambda_j^{Verbal}\right)$$

where  $\lambda_j^{Rec}$  and  $\lambda_j^{Verbal}$  are nurse *j*'s average ED recommendation and verbal communication intensity, respectively. Plugging this into Equation (2.1), I have a reduced-form model as follows:

(2.3) 
$$ED_{k(i)} = f\left(\lambda_j^{Rec}, \lambda_j^{Verbal}\right) + \mathbf{X}'_i \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{Visit} + u_i^{Visit}$$

where the function  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  captures counterfactual ED visit status under different combinations of the two triage practice values.

Nurses can intensify their verbal communication with a patient by several different ways, such as voice, tone, or word choices (e.g., "you would face serious health consequences if you do not visit ED"). In what follows, I use call duration (in minutes) as a proxy measure for verbal treatment.

#### 2.4.3 Construction of Nurse Triage Tendency Measures

I empirically quantify nurse triage practice styles using my analysis sample described in Section 2.3. While the sample average of ED recommendation indicators (call duration) among all the calls assigned to each nurse is an unbiased estimate of the nurse's ED recommendation (call duration) tendency, with a finite number of cases per nurse, including call *i* itself generates a correlation between the nurse triage style measure and call-specific determinants of ED visit, resulting in a bias in reduced-form estimate. To avoid this finite sample bias problem, I construct leave-one-out averages of residual ED recommendations and call duration at the nurse level. Specifically, for call *i* that is assigned to nurse *j*, I first obtain residual of nurse ED recommendation indicator, denoted as  $D_i^{Rec*}$ , before calculating the leave-one-out average. I partial out the conditioning set  $X_i$  from ED recommendation indicator  $D_i^{Rec}$  using the following linear regression:

(2.4) 
$$D_i^{Rec*} = D_i^{Rec} - \boldsymbol{X}_i' \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{Rec} = \lambda_j^{Rec} + u_i^{Rec}$$

where  $X_i$  includes call-center-by-call-month-year interactions. The residuals  $D_i^{Rec*}$  include the nurse effect  $\lambda_j^{Rec}$  and idiosyncratic call-level error term  $u_i^{Rec}$ .

Then, I construct the leave-out ED recommendation tendency measure by averaging the residuals of all other patients but patient k(i) assigned to nurse j in year y(i):

(2.5) 
$$\lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Rec} = \frac{1}{K_{j,y(i)} - 1} \sum_{i'} \frac{1\{k(i') \neq k(i), j(i') = j, y(i') = y(i)\} D_{i'}^{Rec*}}{n_{k(i'),j,y(i)}}$$

where  $K_{j,y}$  is the number of patients assigned to nurse j in year y and  $n_{k,j,y}$  is the total number of calls from patient k received by nurse j in year y.

I use call duration as a proxy measure of verbal communication intensity. A leave-out average of call duration  $\lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Dur}$  is similarly calculated by replacing ED recommendation indicator with call duration in Equations (2.4) and (2.5).<sup>4</sup>

#### **2.4.4 Empirical Model for Reduced-Form Analysis**

The reduced-form model in Equation (2.3) considers how the nurse ED recommendation and verbal communication (proxied by call duration) tendencies affect patient ED

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In constructing the leave-out average of call duration, I drop 315 observations with call duration longer than the 99.9th percentile of the duration distribution (72 minutes). The maximum value of the dropped observations is 96,421 minutes. This extreme value is likely due to system error.

utilization. As the main empirical specification, I specify the function  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  with a linear function of the two leave-out measures and their interaction as follows:

$$(2.6) \quad ED_{k(i)} = \theta_0 + \theta_1 \lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Dur} + \theta_2 \lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Rec} + \theta_3 \lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Dur} \cdot \lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Rec} + \mathbf{X}'_i \boldsymbol{\gamma}^{Visit} + u_i^{Visit}$$

where the interaction term allows the partial effect of one measure to depend on the other.  $\theta_3 > 0$  implies that patients are more likely to visit an ED if they are assigned to a nurse who is more likely to recommend ED and has longer call durations, compared to a nurse who is less likely to recommend ED and tends to have shorter call durations.

#### 2.4.5 2SLS Estimation

I further estimate the treatment effects of ED recommendation and call duration using the constructed leave-out nurse averages of ED recommendation  $(\lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Rec})$ , call duration  $(\lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Dur})$ , and their interaction  $(\lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Rec} \cdot \lambda_{j,-k(i)}^{Dur})$  as instruments. I specify the model as follows:

(2.7) 
$$ED_{k(i)} = g\left(D_i^{Dur}, D_i^{Rec}, \boldsymbol{X}_i, u_i\right)$$
$$= \beta_0 + \beta_1 D_i^{Dur} + \beta_2 D_i^{Rec} + \beta_3 D_i^{Dur} \cdot D_i^{Rec} + \boldsymbol{X}_i' \boldsymbol{\Pi} + u_i$$

where the interaction term of the two treatment variables allows the partial effect of one treatment to depend on the other:

(2.8) 
$$\frac{\partial ED_{k(i)}}{\partial D_i^{Dur}} = \beta_1 + \beta_3 D_i^{Rec}$$

(2.9) 
$$\frac{\partial ED_{k(i)}}{\partial D_{i}^{Rec}} = \beta_{2} + \beta_{3}D_{i}^{Dur}.$$

Allowing for multiple treatments complicates instrumental variable assumptions for the local average treatment effect (LATE) interpretation under treatment effect heterogeneity (Angrist and Imbens, 1995; Heckman et al., 2006; Mogstad et al., 2021). I assume a stronger assumption of constant treatment effect to interpret 2SLS estimates. Given this caveat, I consider this 2SLS analysis to provide secondary evidence that supports the reduced-form analysis.

#### **2.4.6** Variation in Nurse Triage Tendency Measures

Figure 2.2a and 2.2b show the distributions of the leave-out call duration and ED recommendation measures, which exhibit substantial variations across nurses at those margins. After accounting for call-center-by-time effects, the leave-out average of (residualized) call duration ranges from -4.648 to 4.563, with a standard deviation of 2.850. The leave-out average of (residualized) ED recommendation propensity ranges from -0.123 to 0.132, with a standard deviation of 0.077.

The solid line visually presents the reduced-form relationship between each leave-out measure and patient ED visit status within three days since triage. The corresponding linear reduced-form coefficient for the call duration measure is 0.0027, implying that reassigning a call from the 5th to the 95th percentile nurse increases the probability of having an ED visit by 2.5 percentage points, a 12.8% increase from the 3-day ED visit rate of 19.4%. The linear reduced-form coefficient for the ED recommendation measure is 0.344, suggesting that reassigning a call from the 5th to the 95th percentile nurse increases the probability of having an ED visit by 2.5 percentage points, a 12.8% increase from the 3-day ED visit rate of 19.4%. The linear reduced-form coefficient for the ED recommendation measure is 0.344, suggesting that reassigning a call from the 5th to the 95th percentile nurse increases the probability of having an ED visit by 8.8 percentage points, a 45.2% increase from the 3-day ED visit rate of 19.4%.

Figure 2.2 presents a scatter plot of the leave-out call duration and the leave-out

ED recommendation measures averaged at the nurse level. Each dot represents a nurse by the combination of the two triage-style measures. While nurses substantially differ in the combination of the two triage-style measures, the two measures are positively correlated. The correlation coefficient of the two measures (calculated at the call level) is 0.277, which implies that nurses with a higher propensity to recommend ED tend to talk longer.

#### 2.4.7 Balance Check

This study exploits quasi-random assignment of calls to nurses within the call-center-bycall-time cells to isolate nurse heterogeneity in practice styles from patient heterogeneity in health conditions. This strategy fails if some nurses receive systematically different patients than other nurses. While I do not hear any evidence of systematic sorting mechanisms from qualitative interviews with VA nurse managers, I empirically examine this quasi-randomness assumption by testing if the two leave-out nurse practice measures are correlated with patient characteristics.

Specifically, I examine whether a composite measure of patient characteristics is correlated with the constructed leave-out nurse triage tendency measures, following the examiner design literature (Chan et al., 2023). For each call, I first obtain fitted ED visit probability using a linear regression of ED visit indicator on a set of patient demographics (age, veteran status, marital status, gender, priority group, and rurality of residence), prior healthcare utilization and diagnosis measures as well as call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Then, I examine if the predicted ED visit is correlated with the two nurse practice measures. In Figure 2.2a, the dashed line presents a natural cubic spline regression of (residualized) predicted ED visit probability on the leave-out

call duration measure. Figure 2.2b similarly visualizes the relationship between the predicted ED visit and the leave-out ED recommendation measure. The flat lines imply that the two measures are not meaningfully related with patient's underlying health conditions, supporting quasi-random assignment of calls to nurses.

### § 2.5 Results

#### 2.5.1 Reduced-Form Estimates of Nurse Triage Measures

#### **ED** Visit

Table 2.3a presents the reduced-form effects of the two nurse triage tendency measures on the probability of ED visit within 3 days since triage. Columns (1), (3), and (4) reveal that, while a 10-minute difference in average call duration translates to an increase in the ED visit probability by 0.027 percentage points when the call duration measure is the sole regressor, the call duration measure becomes insignificant when the two triage measures are included in the regression simultaneously. In Columns (2) and (3), the estimates imply that reassigning a call to a nurse with a 1 percentage point higher ED recommendation tendency increases the probability of having an ED visit by approximately 0.34 percentage points. In Column (4), the positive interaction effect estimate implies that nurses with a higher ED recommendation propensity and a longer call duration tendency are more likely to have patients visit an ED. Reassigning a call to a nurse with a 10 percentage points higher average ED recommendation propensity and a 10 minutes longer average call duration increases the probability of having an ED visit within 3 days by 6.5 percentage points ( $0.0647 = 0.001 \times 1+0.345 \times 0.1+0.292 \times 1 \times 0.1$ ).

Appendix Figures A2.2a, A2.3a, A2.4a, and A2.5a present the reduced-form estimates of a visit within 1 to 30 days since triage. While the effects of the two triage style measures are gradually waning, the estimates suggest that talking to a nurse with more aggressive triage styles persistently increases the probability of visiting an ED within 30 days.

#### **Primary Care Visit**

Table 2.3b shows the reduced-form estimates on the probability of having at least one primary care visit. In Column (1), while the estimate is imprecise, the call duration tendency is estimated to have a small negative effect. Columns (2) and (3) reveal that reassigning a call to a nurse with a 1 percentage point higher ED recommendation propensity decreases the probability of having a primary care visit by 0.128 percentage points. In Column (4), the interaction term has a positive coefficient estimate, implying that nurses with a higher ED recommendation and a longer average call duration are likely to have patients visit a primary care physician. Appendix Figures A2.2c, A2.3c, A2.4c, and A2.5c show the reduced-form estimates of a visit within 1 to 30 days since triage. Appendix Figure A2.2c shows that, while the average call duration measure has negative estimated effects on the probability of having a primary care visit immediately after triage when included as the sole regressor, the effect disappears over time. In Appendix Figure A2.5c, the estimates from the specification with the interaction term do not differ over time.

# 2.5.2 2SLS Estimations of Nurse Recommendation and Call Duration Effects

This study further implements 2SLS estimation of call duration and nurse ED recommendation effects on patient healthcare utilization using the leave-out average call duration, the leave-out average ED recommendation, and their interaction as instruments. Appendix Table A2.3 presents first-stage estimates.

#### **ED** Visit

Table 2.4a presents 2SLS estimates of the effects of call duration and nurse ED recommendation on the probability of having an ED visit. The positive coefficients on the ED recommendation indicator and the interaction term imply that nurse ED recommendation increases patients' ED visit probability regardless of call duration. With call duration fixed at 10 minutes, a call recommended an ED visit is more likely to visit an ED by 38.6 ( $0.386 = 0.029 + 0.357 \times 1$ ) percentage points than a call recommended a non-ED facility. The negative coefficient on call duration suggests that an increase in call duration has a differential impact on ED visits, depending on whether the nurse recommendes an ED visit. An extra 10 minutes of call time increases the ED visit probability by 25.2 ( $0.252 = -0.105 + 0.357 \times 1$ ) percentage points for patients recommended ED. In contrast, it decreases the ED visit probability by 10.5 ( $-0.105 = -0.105 + 0.357 \times 0$ ) percentage points for patients recommended a non-ED facility. Appendix Figures A2.2b, A2.3b, A2.4b, and A2.5b present the 2SLS estimates within 1 to 30 days since triage.

#### **Primary Care Visit**

Table 2.4b shows 2SLS estimates of the effects of call duration and ED recommendation on the probability of having a primary care visit. The estimates imply that the partial effect of nurse ED recommendation depends on call duration. While nurse ED recommendation increases the probability of having a primary care visit if the call duration is longer than 16 minutes (1.594 = 0.322/0.202), it decreases the probability of having a primary care visit if the call duration is shorter than 16 minutes. Likewise, the partial effect of call duration depends on whether the assigned nurse recommends ED. An extra 10 minutes of call time increases the primary care visit probability by 14.4 ( $0.144 = -0.058 + 0.202 \times 1$ ) percentage points for patients recommended ED. In contrast, it decreases the primary care visit probability by 5.8 ( $-0.058 = -0.058+0.202 \times 0$ ) percentage points for patients recommended a non-ED facility. Appendix Figures A2.2d, A2.3d, A2.4d, and A2.5d show the 2SLS estimates within 1 to 30 days since triage.

### § 2.6 Discussion

The reduced-form results suggest that nurse practice styles – represented by the combination of triage recommendation and call duration tendencies – meaningfully affect healthcare utilization outcomes for similar patients. The estimates on the interaction of the two triage style measures are positive for both ED and primary care utilization outcomes. This finding suggests that nurses with more aggressive treatment styles on the two margins are more effective at getting patients to followup care than nurses with less aggressive styles. The 2SLS results align with this finding. Patients are more likely to have some healthcare visit (ED or primary care) when they receive a more intensive healthcare recommendation (ED) combined with a longer call duration.

Those findings have several methodological implications in research designs that exploit quasi-random agent assignment as instruments for multiple treatments.<sup>5</sup> First, the reduced-form analysis reveals that nurse triage styles potentially affect multiple utilization outcomes (e.g., ED and primary care). A researcher might naively define treatment using a single indicator of having a post-triage ED visit (vs. no visit) and estimate treatment effect with nurse assignment as an instrument. However, if some nurses are more likely to have patients utilize healthcare services in general than others, ignoring healthcare utilization at other facilities (e.g., primary care, urgent care) violates the exclusion restriction.<sup>6</sup>

Second, this study finds that the two practice style measures are positively correlated. Literature examining the causal interpretation of 2SLS with multiple instruments (for a single treatment) points out that using one instrument without conditioning on the others violates the exogeneity condition for LATE unless the instruments are mutually independent (Carneiro et al., 2011; Mogstad et al., 2021). In the present context, using nurse ED recommendation propensity ( $E[D_i^{Rec}(j)]$ ) as a sole instrument for the patient's ED visit without conditioning on nurse verbal communication style ( $E[D_i^{Dur}(j)]$ ) violates the LATE assumption.<sup>7</sup> To ensure the LATE interpretation under treatment effect het-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For this context, such research design views the reduced form in this paper as the first stage to estimate the effect of ED care on subsequent patient outcomes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Some frontier studies in judges design literature attempt to identify interpretable treatment effect parameters with 2SLS under multiple treatments (Bhuller and Sigstad, 2024; Humphries et al., 2023; Chyn et al., 2024). Humphries et al. (2023) discuss conditions under which a 2SLS that controls for non-focal treatment propensities can identify causal effects of the treatment of interest.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This problem arises in this context because the decision-maker for the ED visit (patient) and the decision-maker for the ED recommendation (nurse) do not coincide. In this respect, this design departs from the standard judges design where the judge is the only decision-maker for treatment (e.g., pretrial release). More broadly, this issue will likely arise when agents "nudge" subjects into (a single) treatment using multiple channels.

erogeneity, researchers must either use the propensity score  $(E [ED_{k(i)}(j)])$  estimated by the leave-one-out average of the ED visit indicator of the patients assigned to each nurse) as a single collapsed instrument or control for nurse practice styles in all other dimensions.

### § 2.7 Conclusion

This paper examines the origins of the cross-nurse difference in average ED visit rates of similar patients quasi-randomly assigned to VA telephone triage nurses. I consider two margins of nurse discretion in the VA triage process as potential sources of the cross-nurse variation in patients' ED utilization rates: (i) upgrading triage recommendation to ED and (ii) intensifying verbal communication to ensure patient compliance with the triage disposition. I construct the leave-one-patient-out measures of nurse ED recommendation propensity and call duration tendency. Then, I document that the two measures exhibit substantial variations across nurses. My reduced-form estimates suggest that nurses with a higher ED recommendation and a longer call duration lead patients to see some healthcare provider (in ED or primary care) after triage.

There are several avenues for potential extension. First, while this paper examines the cross-nurse variation in the propensity to recommend ED, future research can examine the efficacy of having human nurses in the triage process by explicitly quantifying and examining cross-nurse variation in the propensity to deviate from the algorithm recommendation. Appendix Figure A2.5 plots the nurse-level average of ED recommendation conditional on algorithm ED recommendation against the nurse-level average of ED recommendation against the nurse-level average of ED recommendation.

the top-left corner can approximate a counterfactual state with no nurse discretion (at least in triage disposition), as they never deviate from the algorithm recommendations.<sup>8</sup> Future research must thoroughly explore conditions to identify the efficacy of having human nurses relative to the algorithm from observed differences in average patient outcomes between nurses who deviate and nurses who never deviate.

Second, examining the underlying causes of cross-nurse variations in their triage practice is imperative. While this study finds substantial variations in nurse triage recommendations, it has yet to address whether they reflect cross-nurse differences in diagnostic skills or preferences. From an econometrics perspective, Chan et al. (2022) argue that cross-examiner differences in diagnostic skills violate a strict form of monotonicity assumption in research design that exploits the quasi-random assignment of examiners as an instrument (judges design). From a policy perspective, understanding the causes is crucial if policymakers want to deliver more uniform services by decreasing cross-nurse variation in triage recommendations. Future research must explore methods to distinguish the causes of cross-nurse variations.<sup>9</sup>

Third, while this study uses call duration as a proxy for verbal communication, future research can consider constructing alternative verbal communication measures by applying natural language processing methods to text data in triage records.<sup>10</sup> Identifying particular communication styles that encourage (or discourage) healthcare utilization at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This approximation resembles the "identification at infinity" method. For instance, Arnold et al. (2022) extrapolate (unobserved) pretrial misconduct rates of the detained, exploiting quasi-random case assignment to "supremely lenient" judges who release nearly all defendants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Existing studies propose methods to isolate skill from preferences using cross-examiner variation in misclassification (confusion matrix). For instance, Chan et al. (2022) find substantial crossradiologist variation in false negative rates in pneumonia diagnoses (the share of each radiologist's patients initially not diagnosed with pneumonia but diagnosed with pneumonia within the next 10 days), attributing a large portion of cross-radiologist variation in pneumonia diagnoses to differences in diagnostic skills.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>VA triage nurses typically leave free-entry summaries of triage conversations in records.

more granular levels (e.g., word choices) can be informative in considering effective telephone triage operations.

### § 2.8 References

- Nikhil Agarwal, Alex Moehring, Pranav Rajpurkar, and Tobias Salz. Combining Human Expertise with Artificial Intelligence: Experimental Evidence from Radiology. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series*, No. 31422, 2023. doi: 10.3386/w31422.
- Victoria Angelova, Will S Dobbie, and Crystal Yang. Algorithmic Recommendations and Human Discretion. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series*, No. 31747, 2023. doi: 10.3386/w31747.
- Joshua D. Angrist and Guido W. Imbens. Two-Stage Least Squares Estimation of Average Causal Effects in Models with Variable Treatment Intensity. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 90(430):431–442, June 1995. ISSN 0162-1459, 1537-274X. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1995.10476535.
- David Arnold, Will Dobbie, and Peter Hull. Measuring Racial Discrimination in Bail Decisions. American Economic Review, 112(9):2992–3038, 2022. doi: 10.1257/aer. 20201653.
- David Autor, Andreas Kostøl, Magne Mogstad, and Bradley Setzler. Disability Benefits, Consumption Insurance, and Household Labor Supply. *American Economic Review*, 109(7):2613–54, 2019. doi: 10.1257/aer.20151231.

Manudeep Bhuller and Henrik Sigstad. 2SLS with Multiple Treatments, March 2024.

- Pedro Carneiro, James J. Heckman, and Edward J. Vytlacil. Estimating Marginal Returns to Education. *American Economic Review*, 101(6):2754–2781, October 2011. ISSN 0002-8282. doi: 10.1257/aer.101.6.2754.
- David C Chan, Matthew Gentzkow, and Chuan Yu. Selection with Variation in Diagnostic Skill: Evidence from Radiologists. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137 (2):729–783, May 2022. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjab048.
- David C. Chan, David Card, and Lowell Taylor. Is There a VA Advantage? Evidence from Dually Eligible Veterans. *American Economic Review*, 113(11):3003–43, 2023. doi: 10.1257/aer.20211638.
- Amitabh Chandra, David Cutler, and Zirui Song. Who Ordered That? The Economics of Treatment Choices in Medical Care. In Mark V. Pauly, Thomas G. Mcguire, and Pedro P. Barros, editors, *Handbook of Health Economics*, volume 2 of *Handbook of Health Economics*, pages 397–432. Elsevier, 2011. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-53592-4.00006-2.

- Eric Chyn, Brigham Frandsen, and Emily C Leslie. Examiner and Judge Designs in Economics: A Practitioner's Guide. *National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series*, No. 32348, 2024. doi: 10.3386/w32348.
- Gordon B. Dahl, Andreas Ravndal Kostøl, and Magne Mogstad. Family Welfare Cultures. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 129(4):1711–1752, November 2014. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qju019.
- Will Dobbie, Jacob Goldin, and Crystal S. Yang. The effects of pretrial detention on conviction, future crime, and employment: Evidence from randomly assigned judges. *American Economic Review*, 108(2):201–40, February 2018. doi: 10.1257/ aer.20161503.
- DSHI Systems. TEDP | Call Center Parts 1-3 DSHI Systems. https://www.dshisystems.com/tedp-call-center.
- Andrew J. Epstein and Sean Nicholson. The formation and evolution of physician treatment styles: An application to cesarean sections. *Journal of Health Economics*, 28(6):1126–1140, 2009. ISSN 0167-6296. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009.08.003.
- Alex Frankel. Selecting Applicants. *Econometrica*, 89(2):615–645, 2021. ISSN 1468-0262. doi: 10.3982/ECTA15510.
- Eric French and Jae Song. The Effect of Disability Insurance Receipt on Labor Supply. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 6(2):291–337, 2014. doi: 10.1257/ pol.6.2.291.
- Jostein Grytten and Rune Sørensen. Practice variation and physician-specific effects. *Journal of Health Economics*, 22(3):403–418, 2003. ISSN 0167-6296. doi: 10.1016/ S0167-6296(02)00105-4.
- James J. Heckman, Sergio Urzua, and Edward Vytlacil. Understanding Instrumental Variables in Models with Essential Heterogeneity. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 88(3):389–432, 2006. ISSN 0034-6535.
- Mitchell Hoffman, Lisa B Kahn, and Danielle Li. Discretion in Hiring. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133(2):765–800, May 2018. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/ qje/qjx042.
- John Eric Humphries, Aurelie Ouss, Kamelia Stavreva, Megan Stevenson, and Winnie Van Dijk. Conviction, Incarceration, and Recidivism: Understanding the Revolving Door. SSRN Electronic Journal, 2023. ISSN 1556-5068. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.4507597.

- Jon Kleinberg, Himabindu Lakkaraju, Jure Leskovec, Jens Ludwig, and Sendhil Mullainathan. Human Decisions and Machine Predictions\*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 133(1):237–293, February 2018. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjx032.
- Nicole Maestas, Kathleen J. Mullen, and Alexander Strand. Does Disability Insurance Receipt Discourage Work? Using Examiner Assignment to Estimate Causal Effects of SSDI Receipt. *American Economic Review*, 103(5):1797–1829, 2013. doi: 10. 1257/aer.103.5.1797.
- Magne Mogstad, Alexander Torgovitsky, and Christopher R. Walters. The Causal Interpretation of Two-Stage Least Squares with Multiple Instrumental Variables. *American Economic Review*, 111(11):3663–3698, November 2021. ISSN 0002-8282. doi: 10.1257/aer.20190221.
- David Molitor. The Evolution of Physician Practice Styles: Evidence from Cardiologist Migration. American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 10(1):326–356, February 2018. ISSN 1945-7731. doi: 10.1257/pol.20160319.
- Sendhil Mullainathan and Ziad Obermeyer. Diagnosing Physician Error: A Machine Learning Approach to Low-Value Health Care. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 137(2):679–727, May 2022. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjab046.
- Charles E. Phelps. Information Diffusion and Best Practice Adoption. In Anthony J. Culyer and Joseph P. Newhouse, editors, *Handbook of Health Economics*, volume 1 of *Handbook of Health Economics*, pages 223–264. Elsevier, 2000. doi: 10.1016/ S1574-0064(00)80164-X.
- Jessica Van Parys and Jonathan Skinner. Physician Practice Style Variation— Implications for Policy. JAMA Internal Medicine, 176(10):1549–1550, October 2016. ISSN 2168-6106. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.4433.

# § 2.9 Tables and Figures

#### Figure 2.1: Variations in Leave-Out Triage Measures

(a) Leave-Out Call Duration (in Minutes)





#### Figure 2.1: (Cont.) Variations in Leave-Out Triage Measures



(b) Leave-Out ED Recommendation

Note: This figure shows the distribution of leave-one-patient-out average of residual nurse ED recommendation as described in Section 2.4.3. The x-axis represents the leave-out average of residual nurse ED recommendation. The left y-axis represents density, scaled to maximum of 1. The solid line visually presents the reduced-form relationship between the leave-one-out nurse ED recommendation and patient ED visit status within three days since triage. The dashed line visually presents a balance check by a natural cubic spline regression of (residualized) predicted ED visit probability (on the right y-axis) on the leave-out nurse ED recommendation measure. The corresponding linear reduced-form and linear balance regression slope estimates are displayed at the top of figure.



Figure 2.2: Nurse ED Recommendation vs. Call Duration Tendency Measures

Note: This figure presents the relationship between the leave-out average of residual nurse ED recommendations and the leave-out average of residual call duration. I further average Equation (2.5) at the nurse level to have each point in this figure represent one nurse. The point size reflects the total number of calls each nurse triaged during the sample period. The solid line overlaid on the points is an unweighted regression of the call duration measure (averaged at the nurse level) on the ED recommendation measure (averaged at the nurse level).

Variables	Step 0	Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8	Step 9
Algorithm ED	0.303	0.306	0.305	0.268	0.265	0.26	0.266	0.266	0.265	0.265
Nurse ED	0.358	0.355	0.354	0.286	0.282	0.277	0.285	0.284	0.29	0.29
Call Duration	7.844	14.214	14.126	13.202	13.13	12.789	12.502	12.508	11.605	10.645
Age	61.312	60.477	60.463	60.77	60.589	60.554	60.553	60.551	61.096	61.095
Veteran	0.995	0.995	0.995	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.993	0.993
Married	0.475	0.473	0.473	0.491	0.496	0.496	0.498	0.498	0.488	0.488
Male	0.859	0.852	0.852	0.854	0.855	0.855	0.854	0.854	0.861	0.861
White	0.676	0.666	0.666	0.675	0.674	0.674	0.661	0.661	0.634	0.634
Black	0.176	0.18	0.18	0.176	0.177	0.177	0.185	0.185	0.19	0.19
Hispanic	0.066	0.071	0.071	0.067	0.068	0.068	0.071	0.071	0.058	0.058
Rural County	0.185	0.181	0.181	0.194	0.195	0.195	0.191	0.191	0.255	0.255
Previous Year Primary Care	0.856	0.853	0.853	0.858	0.851	0.851	0.853	0.853	0.85	0.85
Previous Year VA ED	0.347	0.348	0.348	0.308	0.29	0.289	0.293	0.293	0.252	0.252
Previous Year Non VA ED	0.185	0.173	0.173	0.157	0.145	0.144	0.142	0.142	0.174	0.174
Previous Year Inpatient	0.133	0.13	0.13	0.107	0.099	0.098	0.099	0.099	0.084	0.084
Previous Year Tele Primary Care	0.699	0.699	0.699	0.688	0.676	0.673	0.677	0.677	0.702	0.702
Previous Year Tele Triage	0.874	0.896	0.896	0.881	0.874	0.894	0.898	0.898	0.86	0.86
Previous Year Mental Health	0.285	0.289	0.289	0.271	0.263	0.263	0.264	0.264	0.25	0.25
Previous Year Clinical Pharmacy	0.301	0.296	0.296	0.272	0.261	0.26	0.264	0.264	0.253	0.252
Previous Year Tele Mental Health	0.251	0.25	0.25	0.229	0.221	0.222	0.22	0.22	0.217	0.217
Elix Current Score	3.802	3.771	3.77	3.614	3.542	3.534	3.548	3.546	3.53	3.53
Elix Corrected Score	4.352	4.309	4.308	4.144	4.07	4.061	4.076	4.075	4.085	4.085
ED 1d	0.173	0.199	0.199	0.162	0.159	0.157	0.16	0.159	0.155	0.155
ED 2d	0.21	0.24	0.24	0.192	0.189	0.186	0.189	0.189	0.183	0.183
ED 3d	0.223	0.254	0.253	0.203	0.199	0.196	0.2	0.2	0.194	0.194
PCP 1d	0.151	0.158	0.158	0.171	0.162	0.164	0.164	0.164	0.193	0.193
PCP 2d	0.23	0.243	0.243	0.257	0.247	0.25	0.251	0.251	0.296	0.296
PCP 3d	0.279	0.294	0.294	0.303	0.293	0.295	0.297	0.297	0.347	0.347
Calls	4,930,385	3,378,539	3,375,685	2,301,816	1,982,806	1,836,659	1,661,096	1,656,381	320,145	319,830
Patients	2,044,447	1,638,708	1,637,575	1,300,324	1,245,346	1,161,894	1,053,487	1,049,952	199,997	199,841
Nurses	6,866	3,888	3,881	3,518	3,058	1,421	1,293	1,290	248	248
Call Centers	101	101	101	101	101	96	74	72	28	28

Table 2.1: Characteristics of Baseline Sample

Note: This table presents average call characteristics at each step of the sample restrictions to construct the analysis sample, detailed in Appendix Table A2.1. Algorithm ED and Nurse ED are triage indicators that equal 1 if call *i* is recommended ED. Veteran status, marital status, race and ethnicity, and rural residence are binary indicators. Previous year utilization indicators take 1 if the patient associated with call *i* had respective utilization events at least once in the past 365 days. Elixhauser scores are the total count of 31 comorbidity indices. "Current" scores count recorded diagnoses during a given fiscal year, whereas "corrected" scores look back at two fiscal years of recorded diagnoses and assign the patient the higher comorbidity count of those two years. Post-triage ED and PCP indicators measure ED and primary care physician visits within 1 to 3 days since triage.

(a) LHS = ED Visit (Within 3 Days)						
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)	0.027		0.002	0.001		
	(0.010)		(0.007)	(0.008)		
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation		0.344	0.342	0.345		
		(0.043)	(0.042)	(0.040)		
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation ×				0.292		
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)				(0.075)		
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830		
Dependent Variable Mean	0.194	0.194	0.194	0.194		
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х		

#### Table 2.2: Reduced-Form Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures

Note: This table reports reduced-form estimates of the effect of nurse triage practice measures. Leaveone-out averages of nurse ED recommendation and call duration are constructed as described in Method section. The nurse ED recommendation measure is in probability (1 unit = 100 percentage points). The call duration measure is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call center level. Table 2.2: (Cont.) Reduced-Form Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)	-0.009		0.000	0.000
	(0.010)		(0.010)	(0.009)
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation		-0.128	-0.128	-0.127
		(0.051)	(0.056)	(0.055)
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation ×				0.176
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)				(0.132)
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х

(b) LHS = PCP Visit (Within 3 Days)

Note: This table reports reduced-form estimates of the effect of nurse triage practice measures. Leaveone-out averages of nurse ED recommendation and call duration are constructed as described in Method section. The nurse ED recommendation measure is in probability (1 unit = 100 percentage points). The call duration measure is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.

	,	•		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Call Duration (in 10 mins)	-0.105	-0.105	-0.105	-0.104
	(0.024)	(0.025)	(0.024)	(0.024)
Nurse ED Recommendation	0.029	0.025	0.028	0.029
	(0.075)	(0.078)	(0.077)	(0.075)
Nurse ED Recommendation × Call	0.357	0.357	0.355	0.353
Duration (in 10 mins)	(0.076)	(0.077)	(0.076)	(0.074)
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830
Dependent Variable Mean	0.194	0.194	0.194	0.194
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 2.3: 2SLS Estimates of ED Recommendation and Call Duration

(a) LHS = ED Visit (Within 3 Days)

Note: This table reports IV estimates of the effect of nurse ED recommendation and call duration. Nurse ED recommendation is a binary indicator (= 1 if recommended ED). Call duration is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). These treatment variables are instrumented by the leave-out average of nurse ED recommendation, the leave-out average of call duration, and their interaction. All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Control variables in all specifications are described in Appendix. Prior utilization 1 includes previous year VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission. Prior utilization 2 includes previous year tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health. Hold-out controls include demographics, socioeconomic status, combat history, eligibility for benefits, and prior diagnoses (Elixhauser scores). Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Call Duration (in 10 mins)	-0.058	-0.058	-0.056	-0.056
	(0.052)	(0.052)	(0.050)	(0.050)
Nurse ED Recommendation	-0.322	-0.320	-0.317	-0.318
	(0.190)	(0.186)	(0.183)	(0.182)
Nurse ED Recommendation × Call	0.202	0.200	0.195	0.195
Duration (in 10 mins)	(0.172)	(0.169)	(0.166)	(0.166)
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830
Dependent Variable Mean	0.347	0.347	0.347	0.347
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 1		Х	Х	Х
Prior Utilization 2			Х	Х
Hold-Out Controls				Х

Table 2.3: (Cont.) 2SLS Estimates of ED Recommendation and Call Duration

Note: This table reports IV estimates of the effect of nurse ED recommendation and call duration. Nurse ED recommendation is a binary indicator (= 1 if recommended ED). Call duration is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). These treatment variables are instrumented by the leave-out average of nurse ED recommendation, the leave-out average of call duration, and their interaction. All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Control variables in all specifications are described in Appendix. Prior utilization 1 includes previous year VA ED, non-VA ED, and inpatient admission. Prior utilization 2 includes previous year tele-primary care, tele-triage, mental health, clinical pharmacy, and tele-mental health. Hold-out controls include demographics, socioeconomic status, combat history, eligibility for benefits, and prior diagnoses (Elixhauser scores). Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.

<sup>(</sup>b) LHS = PCP Visit (Within 3 Days)

§2.10 Appendix Tables and Figures

# § 2.10 Appendix Tables and Figures



Note: Panels (a) and (c) show the reduced-form estimates of Equation (2.6) with the leave-out average of call duration as the sole variable instrumented by the leave-out average of call duration. The outcomes are indicator variables of whether the patient has regressor. Panels (b) and (d) similarly present the 2SLS estimates of Equation (2.7) with call duration as the sole treatment an ED (PCP) visit within 1 to 30 days since triage.



167





leave-out average of nurse ED recommendation and the leave-out average of call duration. The outcomes are indicator variables estimates of Equation (2.7) with call duration and nurse ED recommendation as two treatment variables instrumented by the recommendation and the leave-out average of call duration as two regressors. Panels (b) and (d) similarly present the 2SLS Note: Panels (a) and (c) show the reduced-form estimates of Equation (2.6) with the leave-out average of nurse ED of whether the patient has an ED (PCP) visit within 1 to 30 days since triage.





treatment variables instrumented by the two leave-out measures and their interaction. The outcomes are indicator variables of recommendation, the leave-out average of call duration, and their interaction as three regressors. Panels (b) and (d) similarly present the 2SLS estimates of Equation (2.7) with call duration, nurse ED recommendation, and their interaction as three Note: Panels (a) and (c) show the reduced-form estimates of Equation (2.6) with the leave-out average of nurse ED whether the patient has an ED (PCP) visit within 1 to 30 days since triage.



Chapter 2 How Do Telephone Triage Nurses Affect Patient ED Utilization?

Note: This figure plots the nurse-level average of ED recommendation conditional on algorithm ED recommendation (y-axis) against the nurse-level average of ED recommendation conditional on algorithm non-ED recommendation (x-axis). Each point represents one nurse. Each cell represents one call center. The top-left corner is the nurse who never deviates from the algorithm recommendations. Figure A2.6: Nurse-Level Average of ED Visit, Conditional on Algorithm Recommendation







Figure A2.7: Triage Algorithm Screen











Note: These figures show part of the triage algorithm screen used by VA triage nurses. Panel A2.8d displays a symptom question. The algorithm prompts a sequence of symptom-related questions based on the initial inputs. The nurse feeds patient's response into the algorithm.







	Table A2.1: Selection of	Baseline Sa	ample		
Step	Description	Calls	Patients	Nurses	Call Centers
0	All symptom calls with complete IDs and dates.	4,930,385	2,044,447	6,866	101
-	Drop calls with incomplete triage disposition values (follow-up locations and intervals recommended by nurse & algorithm).	3,378,539	1,638,708	3,888	101
7	Drop calls from patients younger than 20 or older than 99; Drop calls from patients in inpatient facilities.	3,375,685	1,637,575	3,881	101
$\mathfrak{c}$	Drop calls received during non-business hours (before 8 am; after 4 pm; weekends; holidays).	2,301,816	1,300,324	3,518	101
4	Drop calls from patients with the most recent prior call within 30 days.	1,982,806	1,245,346	3,058	101
S	Drop calls received by nurses with less than or equal to 100 calls per year.	1,836,659	1,161,894	1,421	96
9	Drop calls received in call centers that experience consolidation during the analysis period.	1,661,096	1,053,487	1,293	74
Г	Drop calls received in call centers with only one nurse per month-year.	1,656,381	1,049,952	1,290	72
8	Restrict to call centers for which patient age is balanced across nurses.	320,145	199,997	248	28
6	Drop calls with call duration longer than the 99.9th percentile of the duration distribution.	319,830	199,841	248	28
Notes	: This table describes sample restriction steps to construct the a	inalysis sample.	. The table lists	the number	of calls, patients,

nurses, and call centers at each step. Table 2.1 presents average call characteristics at each step.

Variables	Number of Indicators
Call-Center-by-Call-Time FEs	
Call-Center-by-Month-Year	1,017
Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week	139
Call-Center-by-Year-by-Day-of-Week	509
Call-Center-by-Month-by-Day-of-Week	1,640
Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week-by-AM	279
Call-Center-by-Day-of-Week-by-Hour-of-Day	1,118
Call-Center-by-Month-Year-by-Day-of-Week	5,055
Call-Center-by-Month-Year-by-Hour-of-Day	8,067
Prior Utilization 1	
Previous Year Primary Care	1
Previous Year VA ED	1
Previous Year Non VA ED	1
Previous Year Inpatient	1
Prior Utilization 2	
Previous Year Tele Primary Care	1
Previous Year Tele Triage	1
Previous Year Mental Health	1
Previous Year Clinical Pharmacy	1
Previous Year Tele Mental Health	1
Hold-Out Controls	
Age bins (5-year)	12
Male	1
Veteran (Y, N, NA)	2
Race (White, Black, Hispanic, Asian/Other, NA)	4
Rural County (Y, N)	1
Income Bin (1st-3rd terciles, NA)	3
Priority Score (High-, Low-/Moderate-, No-Disability; Low-Income; NA)	4
Service Connection (No SC, 0-49, 50-99, 100, NA)	4
Period of Service (Vietnam, Gulf, Post-Vietnam, Korean, Post-Korean, WW2, Other)	6
Elix Corrected Score bins (1-10, 11+, NA)	11

Table A2.2: List of Control Variables

Note: This table lists control variables. Sets of indicators are constructed from each control. Column 2 shows the number of indicators generated from each control. Call-Center-by-Call-Month-Year FEs are included in the main analysis. Robustness checks use FEs at the different granularity. Prior Utilization 1, Prior Utilization 2, and Hold-Out Controls are sequentially added in robustness checks. All covariates are used to obtain the predicted ED visit probability for randomization check.

### Chapter 2 How Do Telephone Triage Nurses Affect Patient ED Utilization?

(a) LHS: Nurse ED Recommendation					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)	0.078		0.006	0.006	
	(0.024)		(0.002)	(0.002)	
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation		0.959	0.953	0.953	
		(0.013)	(0.014)	(0.014)	
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation ×				-0.032	
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)				(0.034)	
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830	
Dependent Variable Mean	0.290	0.290	0.290	0.290	
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х	

### Table A2.3: First-Stage Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures

Note: This table reports first-stage estimates of the effect of nurse triage practice measures. Leave-one-out averages of nurse ED recommendation and call duration are constructed as described in Method section. The nurse ED recommendation measure is in probability (1 unit = 100 percentage points). The call duration measure is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.

(b) LHS: Call Duration					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)	10.233		10.228	10.227	
	(0.051)		(0.054)	(0.055)	
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation		10.564	0.067	0.068	
		(3.484)	(0.161)	(0.159)	
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation ×				0.160	
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)				(0.674)	
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830	
Dependent Variable Mean	10.645	10.645	10.645	10.645	
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х	

### Table A2.3: (Cont.) First-Stage Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Measures

Note: This table reports first-stage estimates of the effect of nurse triage practice measures. Leave-one-out averages of nurse ED recommendation and call duration are constructed as described in Method section. The nurse ED recommendation measure is in probability (1 unit = 100 percentage points). The call duration measure is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.

### Chapter 2 How Do Telephone Triage Nurses Affect Patient ED Utilization?

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)	3.703		3.035	3.015
	(0.266)		(0.215)	(0.218)
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation		11.963	8.848	8.909
		(1.385)	(0.951)	(0.906)
Leave-out Nurse ED Recommendation ×				8.244
Leave-out Call Duration (in 10 mins)				(2.426)
Observations	319,830	319,830	319,830	319,830
Dependent Variable Mean	3.055	3.055	3.055	3.055
FE: CC-by-YM	Х	Х	Х	Х

Table A2.3: (Cont.) First-Stage Effects of Leave-Out Nurse Triage Ma	leasures
--	----------

Note: This table reports first-stage estimates of the effect of nurse triage practice measures. Leave-one-out averages of nurse ED recommendation and call duration are constructed as described in Method section. The nurse ED recommendation measure is in probability (1 unit = 100 percentage points). The call duration measure is scaled (1 unit = 10 minutes). All specifications include call-center-by-call-time fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the call center level.

(c) LHS: Call Duration  $\times$  Nurse ED Recommendation

# **Chapter 3**

# Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?

# § 3.1 Introduction

The marriage market in China has recently drawn the interest of many researchers across fields as the sex ratio imbalance has intensified marriage market competition over partner search. Previous studies have examined the impact of China's surplus of males and the intensified partner search competition on marital and non-marital outcomes (Mu and Xie, 2014; Wei and Zhang, 2011; Nie, 2020). Using the 2000 Census data, a recent demographic research projects that the male-to-female ratio of potential first-marriage partners will increase from 1.5 to 1.8 between 2020 and 2030 (Jiang et al., 2014). Given the likely grave consequences of these phenomena, it is imperative to understand the origins of the sex ratio imbalance from many angles.

While many studies have attributed China's sex ratio imbalance to the One-Child Policy (OCP) under widely prevailing families' preferences for having a son, the driving forces of China's demographic and fertility trends can be multidimensional. Interaction between the Communist ideology, economic growth, and traditional family values have

created a unique marriage pattern in China since the Communist Revolution in 1949. Previous studies have noted that, while the 1950 Marriage Law stipulated free-choice marriages and equal rights between husbands and wives, families have kept a traditional patriarchal and patrilineal family system until recently, resulting in sex-selective fertility decisions during the OCP period (Huang and Zhou, 2015; Mu and Xie, 2014). On the other hand, post-reform economic development since 1978 has contributed to narrowing gender gaps in educational attainment and labor market outcomes, potentially empowering women in marriage and intra-family decision making. To predict future fertility trajectory in post-OCP China, understanding the influence of changing gender and family norm on people's behaviors is pressing.

This study examines gender discrimination based on the Chinese zodiac, one overlooked cultural factor that potentially affects Chinese families' fertility and marriage decisions. East Asian societies have a tradition of expressing a year using one of the twelve animals (rat, ox, tiger, rabbit, Dragon, Snake, Horse, Goat, monkey, rooster, dog, and pig). From the ancient past, people have developed superstitious beliefs attached to the zodiac signs. Some zodiac signs are associated with bad luck. People in China, South Korea, and Japan had a similar cultural superstition: Women born in the year of Goat (China), Horse (South Korea) and Fire-horse (Japan) bring misfortune to their husbands. Anecdotal evidence suggests that women born in the year of Goat (or Sheep synonymously referring to the same animal sign) face discrimination in the marriage market in China. A news article reports Chinese parents' grief that their daughter's marriage was repeatedly turned down for her zodiac sign despite her diploma from a prestigious school and resident status (hukou) in Beijing<sup>1</sup>. While few studies have inves-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>China Daily, July 14, 2017, "Chain of scorn' in Chinese-style blind date" https:// www.chinadaily.com.cn/china/2017-07/14/content\_30116525.htm (accessed November

tigated the gender discrimination against Chinese women of the Goat zodiac sign, there is scholarly evidence that the zodiac-based gender discrimination influenced marital and familial decisions in Japan, which underscores the importance of the zodiac superstition's behavioral impact. Rohlfs et al. (2010) analyze how Japanese parents responded to the most recent Fire-Horse years (1846, 1906, and 1966) in the course of Japan's economic and social development over the period. Calculating male and female cohort size and male-to-female ratio for the three Fire-Horse years and surrounding years, they find that the male-to-female ratios for the 1846 and 1906 cohorts are considerably higher than that for surrounding cohorts, suggesting the incidence of sex-selective infanticide. On the other hand, cohort size in 1966 significantly dropped by 21% to 24% for both males and females, indicating couples' sex-blind child avoidance through abstinence, contraception, or abortion (Rohlfs et al., 2010). Although the investigation into the fate of the 1966 Fire-horse women over lifecycle is nascent, several studies have compared later outcomes of the 1966 Fire-horse women to those of the surrounding cohorts (Akabayashi, 2008; Yamada, 2013; Shimizutani and Yamada, 2014). Shimizutani and Yamada (2014) find that the 1966 Fire-horse women are more likely to be divorced, have lower educational attainment, and earn lower own and household income in middle age than women in the surrounding cohorts.

Following the spirits of the preceding papers about Japan's Fire-horse superstition, this paper investigates the effects of the gender-discriminatory zodiac superstition on various socioeconomic outcomes of women born in the year of Goat. Using a 1% sample of the 2000 Chinese Population Census, this study investigates the causal effects of the Goat-year superstition on marriage outcomes using econometric methods. While

<sup>2, 2021)</sup> 

previous papers on the zodiac effects compare individuals born in a particular year to those born in the surrounding years, this comparison raises two concerns. First, including birth cohorts far away from the target zodiac year reduces comparability. Second, comparing birth cohorts born just before the target zodiac year to those born just after the beginning of the zodiac year is susceptible to confounding by seasonality. This paper applies a Difference-in-Differences (DID) method to two adjacent new years to address these issues. The 1979 Goat-year birth effect is estimated by subtracting the difference in marriage rates between those born at the beginning of 1978 and the end of 1977 from the difference between those born at the beginning of 1979 and the end of 1978. This method is robust to the cyclical seasonality under the assumption that seasonal trends around the two new-year thresholds are similar. The DID estimates of the Goat-year effect on marriage are close to zero and statistically insignificant. Moreover, this study graphically presents the evolution of key demographic variables across birth cohorts, such as cohort size, male-to-female ratios, marriage, educational attainment, and labor market outcomes. While these outcomes exhibit seasonality within years and respond to natural and political events, such as the Great Chinese Famine and the OCP, these plots do not show any clear descriptive evidence of the Goat-year effect.

This paper contributes to the vibrant literature on the demographic trend and marriage market in China. Determinants of marriage and fertility trends can be multidimensional. While the OCP came to an end in 2015, China's total fertility rates have hovered around 1.6 in the late 2010s, far below the replacement-level fertility (The World Bank)<sup>2</sup>. If couples prioritize child's quality over quantity as the economy grows, the lower fertility rate will persist in the future, foreshadowing grave socioeconomic consequences in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The World Bank, "Fertility rate, total (births per woman) - China" https://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/SP.DYN.TFRT.IN?locations=CN (accessed November 6, 2021).

#### §3.1 Introduction

many fields. This study's finding of the no zodiac superstition effects on fertility and marriage might be a blessing for policymakers in the society suffering from population aging. At the same time, this finding raises a new question: why the similar zodiac superstition affects people's actual behaviors in one country while it does not materialize in other societies.

This study adds a new finding to the burgeoning literature of the Chinese zodiac. Among the traditional cultures worldwide, the Chinese zodiac is one of the most influential cultural institutions, affecting the social and economic lives of vast East Asian populations and their diasporas. Besides Japan's Fire-horse superstition, many demographic and economic studies have examined the impact of the year of Dragon, which is traditionally associated with auspiciousness and success. The literature has reported a surge in the number of births in the 1988 and 2000 years of Dragon in Hong Kong, Taiwan, Singapore, Malaysia, and the United States (Vere, 2008; Goodkind, 1991; Wong and Yung, 2005; Johnson and Nye, 2011; Sim, 2015). While most previous studies have focused on Chinese diasporas, Mocan and Yu (2020) report the 2000 and 2012 Dragon-year effects on the number of marriages, the number of births, and Dragonyear children's educational outcomes in mainland China. The finding of this paper contributes to the ongoing scholarly debates on the roles of the zodiac in the lives of the mainland Chinese population in the late 20th century, during which the country underwent dramatic social and economic changes.

This study's finding of the absence of the Goat-year superstition effects has a crucial methodological implication in quantitative studies using econometric research designs. Recent economic literature has utilized cultural beliefs as a source of an exogenous shock to the primary independent variable of interest to estimate the causal effects on outcomes.

For instance, Becker and Woessmann (2009) exploit the Protestant Reformation as an exogenous shock to literacy, a proxy for human capital, and estimate returns to human capital using a distance to Luther's city of Wittenberg as an instrumental variable. Similary, Lee (2005) and Zhang and Zhang (2015) use the zodiac discrimination against the Horse- and Goat-year women as an instrument for marriage and estimate the marriage effect on women's labor force participation in South Korea and China. This study claims that Zhang and Zhang (2015)'s first-stage effect of the Goat-year birth on women's marriage is likely due to specification errors rather than actual superstition effects. This finding highlights the challenge of using a subtle cultural institution as an instrument and alerts researchers who use culture as part of research designs.

More broadly, this paper contributes to the emerging literature about the impact of cultural beliefs on human behaviors. Recent studies investigate a broad range of cultural phenomena, such as systematic increases and decreases in the number of births in China according to auspicious and inauspicious days in traditional Chinese astrology (Huang et al., 2021), similar birth patterns among Chinese Americans in California (Almond et al., 2015), price premium and discount for houses with lucky and unlucky address numbers in Canadian neighborhoods with a large immigrant population (Fortin et al., 2014), and the influence of witchcraft beliefs on various elements of social capital in Sub-Saharan Africa (Gershman, 2016).

The rest of the paper proceeds as follows. Section 2 translates the Goat-year superstition into a simple partner search framework and derives econometric models. Section 3 describes the sample construction from the 2000 Chinese Population Census. Section 4 presents the estimated Goat-Year effects on marriage and other socioeconomic outcomes. Lastly, section 5 discusses implications of our findings for studies using culture as research designs and concludes our study.

# § 3.2 Conceptual Framework and Empirical Models

We set up a simple conceptual framework to translate the zodiac superstition into empirical models. Consider a partner search in the marriage market where male participants care about female participants' zodiac sign along with other characteristics. Female participants with the Goat sign are less preferred to those with other zodiac signs because of the discriminatory zodiac superstition. As we present in Figure 3.1, women born in goat years have to spend more monetary and non-monetary costs to find a marriage partner than otherwise comparable women born in other zodiac years. Due to the higher search costs, goat-year women would have a lower probability of being married. Formally,

$$(3.1) \quad \Pr\left(Married_i \mid X_i, \epsilon_i, Goat_i = 1\right) < \Pr\left(Married_i \mid X_i, \epsilon_i, Goat_i = 0\right)$$

where  $Married_i$  is an indicator for marriage,  $X_i$  and  $\epsilon_i$  are observable and unobservable determinants of marriage, and  $Goat_i$  is an indicator of goat-year birth.

An ideal statistical test for Eq (3.1) would randomly assign the Goat (treatment) sign and another zodiac (control) sign to female participants in the marriage market and compare the marriage rates between the two groups. Some previous studies about partner search implement online field experiments to elicit preferences over partners: Experimenters create fictitious profiles of potential partners with various personal traits on matching platforms and compare the number of "visits" across different profiles<sup>3</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For instance, Ong, Yang, and Zhang (2020) elicit participants' preferences over partners' income and educational attainment using an online experiment in investigating the reported difficulties of elite women in finding a partner ("leftover women" phenomenon) in China.

However, artificially designed experiments have limitations in reproducing the complex decision-making process in the actual marriage market. Hence, we propose and estimate econometric models that leverage quasi-random variation in the zodiac sign, exploiting the access to micro-level census data.

First, we consider a regression discontinuity (RD) model using age in months as a running variable. This RD model compares the 1979 Goat-year women with the women born in 1978 (Horse) or 1980 (Monkey), assuming that these women in the adjacent cohorts are comparable except for the zodiac signs. This research design shares a similar identification assumption as previous studies about the Fire-Horse superstition in Japan: Yamada (2013) and Shimizutani and Yamada (2014) nonparametrically compare the marriage rates of Japanese women in Fire-Horse and the adjacent cohorts. In addition to the simple comparison of the marriage rates across cohorts, we estimate a linear RD specification to control for the age difference between cohorts using a flexible function of age:

(3.2) 
$$Married_i = \theta_0 + \theta_1 Goat_i + f(age_i) + X'_i \Gamma + \varepsilon_i$$

where  $Goat_i$  equals one if a woman *i* is born in the 1979 goat year and zero otherwise.  $f(age_i)$  is a polynomial function of age whose terms fully interact with the goat dummy. Assuming that whether an individual i is born in the goat year or adjacent year is as good as randomly determined, the coefficient of the goat-year dummy captures the causal effects of the zodiac superstition on marriage.

While the RD method increases comparability of women by restricting the sample to the Goat and surrounding cohorts, a potential threat to this method is the systematic relationship between the timing of birth and later outcomes. Recent studies show that season of birth and later outcomes have significant correlations by parental selection in the US (Buckles et al., 2021). Suppose parents who give birth at the beginning of a year are systematically different from those who give birth at the end of a year. For instance, such a difference may arise from differential peak seasons across occupations. In that case, their children may experience different childhood environments, resulting in different marriage outcomes. Unobserved differences in childhood environments violate the local randomness assumption of the RD approach.

We deal with this potential shortcoming of the RD strategy due to the relationship between season of birth and marriage outcome by combining the RD and differencein-differences (DID) method. The RD estimates are biased if the women born in the Goat- and surrounding years have unobservable characteristics (e.g., childhood environments) that affect marriage outcomes. To control for the unobserved differences across cohorts, we assume that the difference in marriage rates due to the difference in the timing of birth (net of the goat-year effect) is the same across adjacent cohorts. This assumption excludes the possibility that the difference in childhood environments between December-(the end of a year) and March-(the beginning of a year) born women changes across years. It also rules out the possibility that the one-year age difference across adjacent cohorts causes any difference in the timing-of-birth effect on marriage. Under the assumption, the difference in marriage rates between women born before and after the 1977-1978 (Snake-Horse) new-year cutoff would provide a counterfactual for the difference at the 1978-1979 (Horse-Goat) threshold in the absence of the goat-year superstition. Constructing two overlapping pairs of adjacent two years (1977-1978 and

1978-1979), we estimate the following DID model:

(3.3)

$$Married_i = \psi_0 + \psi_1 Pair78_79_i + \psi_2 New Year_i + \psi_3 Pair78_79_i \cdot New Year_i + X'_i\delta + \nu_i\delta +$$

where  $Pair78_79_i$  equals one if a unit *i* is in the 1978-1979 pair and equals zero if *i* is in the 1977-1978 pair.  $NewYear_i$  is an indicator that equals one if a unit i's birth year is the second year within each pair (1978 for the 1977-1978 pair and 1979 for the 1978-1979 pair). The covariates  $X_i$  include a polynomial function of age and dummy variables for ethnicity, province of residence, and educational attainment.

In Eq (3.3), the Goat-year superstition effects are captured by the coefficient on the interaction of the two dummy variables. The 1978-1979 pair dummy absorbs the average difference in marriage rates between the 1978-1979 and the 1977-1978 pairs. The new-year indicator captures the difference between December-(the end of a year) and March-(the beginning of a year) born women common to both the 1978-1979 and the 1977-1978 pairs. The interaction term captures any effects specific to the Goat-year women in the 1978-1979 pair. This coefficient is essentially equivalent to the difference between the two RD coefficients, which we would obtain by running the RD model in Eq (3.2) separately for the 1977-1978 and 1978-1979 pairs.

# § 3.3 Data

We obtain a 1% sample of the Chinese Population Census from IPUMS International (2020). As of January 2022, the Census rounds of 1982, 1990, and 2000 are available for academic purposes. This study constructs the analysis sample from the 2000 Census

to conduct the econometric analysis proposed in the previous section. The 2000 Census contains critical demographic information, including year and month of birth, sex, marital status, ethnicity, educational attainment, employment status, and location of residence at the prefecture-level.

Our regression discontinuity (RD) and difference-in-differences methods compare the women born in 1978 (Horse), 1979 (Goat), and 1980 (Monkey). To this end, we first restrict the sample to these three female cohorts. They were at ages 20-22 when the National Bureau of Statistics of the People's Republic of China collected the Census survey from November 1-10, 2000. Second, we further limit the sample to women whose marital status is either "single" or "first-marriage" to avoid complexity arising from potentially different mechanisms between first marriage and remarriage<sup>4</sup>.

While the Census collects birth month in the solar calendar, the zodiac sign in China revolves according to the lunar calendar. Hence, we convert the lunar calendar into the solar calendar and assign a corresponding zodiac sign to each birth cohort at the solar month level<sup>5</sup>. The Horse sign is attached to individuals born in February 1978-January 1979. The Goat sign is attached to February 1979-January 1980, and the Monkey sign to February 1980-January 1981. As we do not have date-level birth information, some individuals born in January and February are misclassified into the wrong zodiac cohort. In order to avoid our results being affected by this inconsistency, our regression analysis excludes individuals born in January and February<sup>6</sup>. We present analysis results with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The marital status in the Census has five categories (single, first marriage, remarried, divorced, and widowed). Among the three analysis cohorts, the shares of remarried, divorced, and widowed women are 0.14%, 0.17%, and 0.03%, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The exact dates for each zodiac year are the following: February 7, 1978 to January 27, 1979 (Horse), January 28, 1979 to February 15, 1980 (Goat), and February 16, 1980 to February 4, 1981 (Monkey).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Previous zodiac studies (e.g., Zhang and Zhang, 2015) similarly exclude individuals born in January and February to avoid misclassification.

January and February in Appendix.

Table 3.1 presents summary statistics of marriage and other variables of the women in the final sample. Rural women have higher marriage and labor force participation rates<sup>7</sup> than urban counterparts. On the other hand, urban women tend to have higher educational attainment than rural counterparts. Given the large underlying differences in these socioeconomic characteristics, we separately analyze the rural and urban samples in the following sections.

### § 3.4 Results

### **3.4.1** The Goat-Year Effects on Marriage Outcomes

Figures 3.2 and 3.3 show marriage rates of rural women born in 1978 (Horse), 1979 (Goat), and 1980 (Horse) as of November 2000. We superimpose a quadratic fit on each plot. The 1978-1979 (Horse-Goat) comparison exhibits a dip in the marriage rate for January-February cohorts compared to the surrounding birth-month cohorts. The marriage profile appears to be continuous at the new-year threshold in the 1979-1980 plot. Figures 3.4 and 3.5 presents the same marriage profiles for urban women. For urban women, the new-year dip in the marriage rates is visible for both the 1978-1979 and 1979-1980 pairs. Overall, the RD estimates from Eq (3.2) confirm the new-year dip in the graphical analysis, while the magnitude and statistical significance are somewhat

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>We consider a person employed if her work status ("worked for income last week") is either "yes" or "no, due to training, vacation, or seasonal holidays." The Census asks activity status for persons whose work status is "no, for other reasons." We consider a person unemployed if her activity status is either "had never worked before and is looking for a job" or "lost last job and is looking for a job." We consider the remaining individuals (in school, keeping household, retired, or disabled) as not in the labor force.

sensitive to the degree of age polynomial. Tables 3.2 and 3.3 show that the estimated dip at the 1978-1979 new year ranges -2.5 to -6.8 and -4.8 to -8.2 percentage points for rural and urban women, respectively (columns (1), (3), and (5)). By contrast, the estimated discontinuity at the 1979-1980 new year has different signs across age specifications and is statistically insignificant (columns (2), (4), and (6)).

Although the RD estimates indicate a decline in the marriage rate at the beginning of the 1979 Goat year, we expect these negative estimates to be affected by the season-of-birth effects. Figure 3.6 presents the marriage-cohort profile across the 1970-1983 birth cohorts. The marriage rate discontinuously drops at multiple new-year thresholds. Hence, the negative RD estimates at the 1978-1979 new year likely include the cyclical seasonality effects.

Under the DID assumption explained in the previous section, DID estimates net out the seasonality effects by subtracting the marriage gap at the 1977-1978 threshold from the gap at the 1978-1979 threshold. Figures 3.7 and 3.8 stack the marriage-cohort profiles for pairs of two adjacent years. A quadratic function of age fits each profile of March-December birth-month cohorts. We excluded January and February birthmonth cohorts as we cannot determine their zodiac sign by birth information at the month level. Overall, March-December marriage-age profiles are parallel, indicating season-of-birth effects on marriage are roughly stationary across pairs of two adjacent years. The observed parallel patterns indirectly support our assumption for a DID method: In the absence of the zodiac superstition, the marriage gap at the 1978-1979 (Horse-Goat) threshold would have been the same as the marriage gap at the 1977-1978 (Snake-Horse) threshold.

Table 3.4 presents the DID estimates for rural and urban women from Eq (3.3). The

estimate is nearly zero and statistically insignificant across specifications (row 1). The null effect indicates that, contrary to the zodiac discrimination hypothesis, after the model accounts for the cyclical marriage discontinuity at the new-year threshold, there is no extra effect on marriage for those born at the beginning of the 1979 goat year. The estimates for other dummy variable terms match the observed patterns in the marriage-age profiles. The marriage rate of the 1978-1979 cohort pair is approximately 4.4-5.3 percentage points lower than that for the 1977-1978 cohort pair, reflecting the one-year age difference. While the estimated size of cyclical discontinuity at the threshold varies across specifications, those born just after the new year in 1978 are 3.3-11.7 percentage points less likely to marry than those born at the end of 1977.

### 3.4.2 The Goat-Year Effects on Other Outcomes

The DID results show no statistical evidence of the Goat-year discrimination effects on marriage rates of the 1979 Goat-year women. However, the zodiac superstition may affect other socioeconomic outcomes. Demographic and economic studies have documented a sharp decline in the number of births in the 1966 Fire-Horse year in Japan, attributing parents' sex-blind child avoidance to the similar discriminatory beliefs attached to Fire-Horse women (Kaku and Matsumoto, 1975). Analyzing the Census records from Japan, Rohlfs et al. (2010) show a skewed sex ratio of the 1846 birth cohort born in the earlier round of the Fire-Horse year. They attribute the increased male-to-female ratio of the 1846 cohort to sex-selective infanticide in the year before modern contraceptives became available. For socioeconomic outcomes, Shimizutani and Yamada (2014) report that the 1966 Fire-Horse women have lower educational attainment and income than women in the surrounding cohorts. Given these episodes of the neighboring country, this study investigates if we can find any statistical evidence of the zodiac influences in socioeconomic outcomes of the 1979 Goat-year cohort.

Figures 3.9-3.12 show the histogram of yearly and monthly birth cohorts (population pyramids) based on the 2000 Population Census. The yearly birth cohort bin is the share of one yearly cohort to the total population, whereas the monthly cohort bin is the fraction of one monthly cohort to the total population born in 1978 (Horse), 1979 (Goat), and 1980 (Monkey). While the population shares drastically shrink for cohorts born during the Great Famine (around age 40 in 2000) and for cohorts born after the implementation of the One-Child Policy (around age 20 in 2000), there is no comparable decline for the 1979 men and women. The monthly birth cohort share exhibits seasonal fluctuations, but the 1979 Goat-year cohorts show neither noticeable declines in shares nor irregular seasonal patterns compared to the 1978 and 1980 birth cohorts.

Similarly, we plot the male-to-female ratio across yearly and monthly birth cohorts in Figures 3.13-3.16. As numerous other papers point out (e.g., Jiang et al., 2014), we can notice the dramatic increase in the male-to-female ratio since the 1980s. However, the male-to-female ratio for the 1979 Goat-year cohort does not show any noticeable dip compared to the surrounding cohorts. The male-to-female ratio across monthly birth cohorts exhibits no irregular drop, either. The ratio hovers around one throughout the late 1970s, including the 1979 Goat year.

Although Figures 3.9-3.16 do not show any evidence for sex-blind and sex-selective child avoidance, parents may invest less in education for their Goat-year daughters if they expect returns to be lower due to the zodiac discrimination. In order to investigate the Goat-year discrimination effects on human capital formation, we similarly plot education and labor market profiles across birth cohorts.

Figures 3.17-3.20 plot the educational attainment across the 1970-1983 birth cohorts. We break down the sample into four mutually exclusive educational attainment levels (primary or less, middle school, high school, and higher education) and compute the share of each education level to the cohort size. The educational attainment profiles exhibit distinct seasonal patterns: Women born in the 4th quarter tend to achieve higher educational attainment than those born in the 1st-3rd quarters. The 1979 Goat-year women follow the same patterns as the other cohorts. Lastly, Figures 3.21-3.24 show the labor force participation rate, unemployment rate, and employment-to-population ratio across the 1970-1983 birth cohorts. These labor market indicators do not show any discontinuous change for the 1979 Goat-year cohort, either. Overall, these graphical analyses do not show evidence that parents made differential human capital investment decisions between the Goat and non-Goat cohorts.

### § 3.5 Discussion and Conclusion

This paper investigated whether Chinese women born in the 1979 Goat year experienced marriage-market discrimination due to the superstitious beliefs stigmatizing them as a source of misfortune to the husband. While the RD estimates show a discontinuous drop in the marriage rate at the new year of the 1978-1979 year transition, we argued that this drop is likely due to the systematic differences in parental and childhood background between the end of the year and the beginning of the year birth cohorts. Once we account for the season-of-birth effects using the DID strategy, we find no statistical evidence of the Goat-year superstition effects for the 1979 Goat-year women. While investigating the mechanism behind the absence of the Goat-year effects is beyond the scope of our

analysis, one possibility is the ban on superstitious activities during the 1960s-1970s. Mocan and Yu (2020) note that the Chinese government banned any activity connected with superstition during the Cultural Revolution (1966-1976). Having experienced the Cultural Revolution, families of the 1979 Goat-year women might expect the superstition to be no obstacle in the marriage market. As we explained in the previous section, we do not find any statistical evidence of the 1979 Goat year effects on the cohort size and the male-to-female ratio. The absence of parental reaction to the unlucky year in China contrasts with Janapese parents' sex-selective and sex-blind child avoidance behaviors in the 1846, 1906, and 1966 Fire-Horse years that Rohlfs et al. (2010) report.

The null effects of the zodiac superstition also speak to research designs that use culture and institution as a source of exogenous variation. Zhang and Zhang (2015) use the 1979 Goat-year birth as an instrumental variable for marriage in analyzing the marriage effects on Chinese women's labor force participation. While they show sizable first-stage zodiac effects on marriage, we believe that their first-stage estimate is biased due to an inappropriate polynomial age specification. Zhang and Zhang (2015) regress the marriage dummy on the Goat-year dummy, age, age-squared, and other covariates using the cohorts born between 1970 and 1983. To show the specification problem, we present a marriage-cohort profile for the 14 cohorts and superimpose a quadratic fit for the profile in Figure 3.25. The quadratic age function does not trace the S-shaped profile well, generating a wide gap between the predicted and actual marriage rates. Given that there is only one Goat year (1979) in this sample, the first-stage regression translates this gap into a negative coefficient estimate on the Goat-year dummy variable, which cannot be interpretable as the superstition effects. Table 3.5 presents the Goat-year effect estimates from Zhang and Zhang (2015)'s first-stage specification. While the

estimates using all 1970-1983 cohorts (columns (1) and (6)) are large in magnitude and statistically significant, the estimates shrink toward zero as we exclude cohorts far away from the 1979 Goat-year cohort. This contradictory finding highlights the importance of careful checks for confounding factors when researchers use a subtle cultural institution as a research design.

This paper leaves several issues for future research. First, the absence of the Goat-year effects is sharply contrasting to the influence of male preferences in the skewed male-to-female ratio. Understanding why one cultural institution affects family fertility behaviors while others do not is important in making demographic policies. Second, while we found the systematic relationship between the timing of birth and later outcomes (marriage and education), to our knowledge, less is known about what causes these seasonal patterns in China. Given that many research designs rest on variation in the timing of birth, demographic and economic researchers need more knowledge on the driving force of the seasonality.

# § 3.6 References

- Hideo Akabayashi. Lives of the Firehorse Cohort: What the Statistics Show. *Japanese Economy*, 35(3):34–54, September 2008. ISSN 1097-203X. doi: 10.2753/JES1097-203X350302.
- Douglas Almond, Christine Pal Chee, Maria Micaela Sviatschi, and Nan Zhong. Auspicious birth dates among Chinese in California. *Economics & Human Biology*, 18: 153–159, July 2015. ISSN 1570677X. doi: 10.1016/j.ehb.2015.05.005.
- Sascha O. Becker and Ludger Woessmann. Was Weber Wrong? A Human Capital Theory of Protestant Economic History\*. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 124 (2):531–596, May 2009. ISSN 0033-5533. doi: 10.1162/qjec.2009.124.2.531.
- Kasey Buckles, Daniel Hungerman, and Steven Lugauer. Is Fertility a Leading Economic Indicator? *The Economic Journal*, 131(634):541–565, March 2021. ISSN 0013-0133, 1468-0297. doi: 10.1093/ej/ueaa068.
- Nicole M. Fortin, Andrew J. Hill, and Jeff Huang. SUPERSTITION IN THE HOUSING MARKET. *Economic Inquiry*, 52(3):974–993, July 2014. ISSN 00952583. doi: 10.1111/ecin.12066.
- Boris Gershman. Witchcraft beliefs and the erosion of social capital: Evidence from Sub-Saharan Africa and beyond. *Journal of Development Economics*, 120:182–208, May 2016. ISSN 03043878. doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2015.11.005.
- Daniel M. Goodkind. Creating New Traditions in Modern Chinese Populations: Aiming for Birth in the Year of the Dragon. *Population and Development Review*, 17(4):663, December 1991. ISSN 00987921. doi: 10.2307/1973601.
- Cheng Huang, Shiying Zhang, Qingguo Zhao, and Yan Lin. Dragon year superstition, birth timing, and neonatal health outcomes. *China Economic Review*, 66:101594, April 2021. ISSN 1043951X. doi: 10.1016/j.chieco.2021.101594.
- Wei Huang and Yi Zhou. One-Child Policy, Marriage Distortion, and Welfare Loss. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 2015. ISSN 1556-5068. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.2696370.
- IPUMS International. The 2000 Chinese Population Census, 2020. data retrieved from Minnesota Population Center. Integrated Public Use Microdata Series, International: Version 7.3 [dataset]. Minneapolis, MN: IPUMS.
- Quanbao Jiang, Marcus W. Feldman, and Shuzhuo Li. Marriage Squeeze, Never-Married Proportion, and Mean Age at First Marriage in China. *Population Research*
*and Policy Review*, 33(2):189–204, April 2014. ISSN 0167-5923, 1573-7829. doi: 10.1007/s11113-013-9283-8.

- Noel D. Johnson and John V. C. Nye. Does fortune favor dragons? *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 78(1):85–97, 2011. ISSN 0167-2681. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2010.12.010.
- Kanae Kaku and Y Scott Matsumoto. Influence of a Folk Superstition on Fertility of Japanese in California and Hawaii, 1966. *American Journal of Public Health*, 65(2): 170–174, 1975.
- Jungmin Lee. Marriage, female labor supply, and Asian zodiacs. *Economics Letters*, 87(3):427–432, June 2005. ISSN 01651765. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2005.01.012.
- Naci Mocan and Han Yu. Can Superstition Create a Self-Fulfilling Prophecy? School Outcomes of Dragon Children in China. *Journal of Human Capital*, 14(4):485–534, December 2020. ISSN 1932-8575, 1932-8664. doi: 10.1086/712476.
- Zheng Mu and Yu Xie. Marital age homogamy in China: A reversal of trend in the reform era? *Social Science Research*, 44:141–157, March 2014. ISSN 0049089X. doi: 10.1016/j.ssresearch.2013.11.005.
- Guangyu Nie. Marriage squeeze, marriage age and the household savings rate in China. *Journal of Development Economics*, 147:102558, November 2020. ISSN 03043878. doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2020.102558.
- Chris Rohlfs, Alexander Reed, and Hiroyuki Yamada. Causal effects of sex preference on sex-blind and sex-selective child avoidance and substitution across birth years: Evidence from the Japanese year of the fire horse. *Journal of Development Economics*, 92(1):82–95, May 2010. ISSN 03043878. doi: 10.1016/j.jdeveco.2008.11.005.
- Satoshi Shimizutani and Hiroyuki Yamada. Long-term consequences of birth in an 'unlucky' year: Evidence from Japanese women born in 1966. *Applied Economics Letters*, 21(16):1174–1178, November 2014. ISSN 1350-4851, 1466-4291. doi: 10.1080/13504851.2014.916377.
- Nicholas Sim. ASTRONOMICS IN ACTION: THE GRADUATE EARNINGS PRE-MIUM AND THE DRAGON EFFECT IN SINGAPORE. *Economic Inquiry*, 53(2): 922–939, April 2015. ISSN 00952583. doi: 10.1111/ecin.12154.
- James P. Vere. Dragon Children: Identifying the Causal Effect of the First Child on Female Labour Supply with the Chinese Lunar Calendar. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 70(3):303–325, June 2008. ISSN 0305-9049, 1468-0084. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0084.2008.00501.x.

- Shang-Jin Wei and Xiaobo Zhang. The Competitive Saving Motive: Evidence from Rising Sex Ratios and Savings Rates in China. *Journal of Political Economy*, 119 (3):511–564, June 2011. ISSN 0022-3808, 1537-534X. doi: 10.1086/660887.
- Ka-Fu Wong and Linda Yung. Do Dragons Have Better Fate? *Economic Inquiry*, 43 (3):689–697, 2005. ISSN 1465-7295. doi: 10.1093/ei/cbi048.
- Hiroyuki Yamada. Superstition effects versus cohort effects: Is it bad luck to be born in the year of the fire horse in Japan? *Review of Economics of the Household*, 11(2):259–283, June 2013. ISSN 1569-5239, 1573-7152. doi: 10.1007/s11150-012-9162-9.
- Junchao Zhang and Shiying Zhang. Identifying the Causal Effect of Marriage on Women's Labor Force Participation in the Presence of Chinese Superstition. *Economics Bulletin*, 35(2):986–997, 2015.

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?

## § 3.7 Tables and Figures

§3.7 Tables and Figures

Figure 3.1: Conceptual Model of Partner Search with Zodiac Discrimination Partner search cost |  $X_{it}$ ,  $\varepsilon_{it}$ 



Figure 3.2: Marriage-Cohort Profile for Rural Women (Horse-Goat)



Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?





Goat 1979 = Jan 28, 1979 - Feb 15, 1980; Monkey 1980 = Feb 16, 1980 - Feb 4, 1981



Figure 3.4: Marriage-Cohort Profile for Urban Women (Horse-Goat)



Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?

## Figure 3.5: Marriage-Cohort Profile for Urban Women (Goat-Monkey)



Goat 1979 = Jan 28, 1979 - Feb 15, 1980; Monkey 1980 = Feb 16, 1980 - Feb 4, 1981



Figure 3.6: Marriage-Cohort Profiles for Rural Women 1970-1983

Figure 3.7: Stacked Marriage-Cohort Profiles for Rural Women 1976-1982







Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.9: Population Pyramid for Rural Women

Data Source: The 2000 Chinese Population Census

Figure 3.10: Population Pyramid for Rural Women around the 1979 Goat Year



Data Source: The 2000 Chinese Population Census The Goat 1979 cohorts are 249-262 months old in 2000.

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.11: Population Pyramid for Urban Women

Data Source: The 2000 Chinese Population Census

Figure 3.12: Population Pyramid for Urban Women around the 1979 Goat Year



Data Source: The 2000 Chinese Population Census The Goat 1979 cohorts are 249-262 months old in 2000.

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.13: Male-to-Female Ratio for the Rural Sample

§3.7 Tables and Figures



Figure 3.14: Male-to-Female Ratio for Rural Goat-Year Women

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.15: Male-to-Female Ratio for the Urban Sample

§3.7 Tables and Figures



Figure 3.16: Male-to-Female Ratio for Urban Goat-Year Women

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.17: Educational Attainment for Rural Women



Figure 3.18: Educational Attainment for Rural Goat-Year Women

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.19: Educational Attainment for Urban Women



Figure 3.20: Educational Attainment for Urban Goat-Year Women

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.21: Labor Market Profiles for Rural Women



Figure 3.22: Labor Market Profiles for Rural Goat-Year Women

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.23: Labor Market Profiles for Urban Women



Figure 3.24: Labor Market Profiles for Urban Goat-Year Women

Chapter 3 Is the Goat-Year Birth Really Ominous?



Figure 3.25: Marriage-Cohort Profiles with Quadratic Fit

-	
Rural	Urban
0.293	0.116
(0.455)	(0.320)
21.319	21.270
(0.847)	(0.843)
0.876	0.941
(0.330)	(0.236)
0.260	0.049
(0.439)	(0.216)
0.561	0.351
(0.496)	(0.477)
0.155	0.336
(0.362)	(0.472)
0.024	0.264
(0.152)	(0.441)
0.899	0.693
(0.301)	(0.461)
0.847	0.593
(0.360)	(0.491)
0.052	0.100
(0.222)	(0.300)
141429	62717
	Rural 0.293 (0.455) 21.319 (0.847) 0.876 (0.330) 0.260 (0.439) 0.561 (0.496) 0.155 (0.362) 0.024 (0.152) 0.899 (0.301) 0.847 (0.360) 0.052 (0.222) 141429

Table 3.1: Summary Statistics

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)
Goat	-0.039***	-0.014	-0.025	-0.029	-0.068	-0.131
	(0.013)	(0.014)	(0.025)	(0.036)	(0.057)	(0.103)
Constant	0.348***	0.179***	0.340***	0.180***	0.331***	0.180***
	(0.021)	(0.015)	(0.023)	(0.015)	(0.029)	(0.015)
Observations	96984	91757	96984	91757	96984	91757
R-squared	0.187	0.177	0.187	0.177	0.187	0.177
Age Polynomial	2	2	3	3	4	4
Province FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Table 3.2: RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage (Rural)

Robust standard errors in parentheses.

\*\*\* p < 0.01\*\* p < 0.05\*p < 0.1

Table 3.3: RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage (U)	rban	)
--	------	---

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)
Goat	-0.054***	-0.005	-0.048*	0.034	-0.082	0.081
	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.028)	(0.036)	(0.062)	(0.103)
Constant	0.266***	0.145***	0.238***	0.147***	0.288***	0.149***
	(0.014)	(0.009)	(0.018)	(0.009)	(0.028)	(0.009)
Observations	42177	42090	42177	42090	42177	42090
R-squared	0.145	0.103	0.145	0.103	0.145	0.104
Age Polynomial	2	2	3	3	4	4
Province FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Robust standard errors in parentheses.

\*\*\* p < 0.01\*\* p < 0.05\*p < 0.1

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Rural	Rural	Rural	Urban	Urban	Urban
Pair_1978-1979=1 × New Year=1	-0.002	0.016	0.013	0.003	-0.001	-0.001
	(0.010)	(0.016)	(0.016)	(0.012)	(0.020)	(0.020)
Pair_1978-1979=1	-0.049***	-0.053***	-0.051***	-0.044***	-0.044***	-0.044***
	(0.007)	(0.011)	(0.011)	(0.010)	(0.015)	(0.015)
New Year=1	-0.061***	-0.078***	-0.117***	-0.049***	-0.045***	-0.033
	(0.008)	(0.012)	(0.019)	(0.010)	(0.016)	(0.024)
Age	0.009***	0.008***	0.009***	0.008***	0.008***	0.008***
	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)
$Age^2$	-0.000	0.000	0.001***	0.000***	0.000***	$0.000^{*}$
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
$Age^3$		0.000	-0.000		0.000	-0.000
		(0.000)	(0.000)		(0.000)	(0.000)
$Age^4$			-0.000***			-0.000
			(0.000)			(0.000)
New Year= $1 \times Age$	-0.003**	-0.009**	-0.040***	-0.002	0.000	0.005
_	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.009)	(0.002)	(0.005)	(0.011)
New Year= $1 \times Age^2$	-0.000**	-0.001**	-0.007***	-0.000	0.000	0.001
_	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.002)
New Year= $1 \times Age^3$		-0.000	-0.000***		0.000	0.000
		(0.000)	(0.000)		(0.000)	(0.000)
New Year=1 $\times Age^4$			$0.000^{*}$			0.000
_			(0.000)			(0.000)
Han	-0.075***	-0.075***	-0.075***	-0.008	-0.008	-0.008
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Primary or Less	0.140***	0.140***	0.140***	0.140***	0.140***	0.140***
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.008)
High/Technical School	-0.187***	-0.187***	-0.187***	-0.151***	-0.151***	-0.151***
-	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Higher Education	-0.305***	-0.304***	-0.304***	-0.266***	-0.266***	-0.266***
C	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Constant	0.612***	0.614***	0.599***	0.406***	0.407***	0.403***
	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Observations	195319	195319	195319	81745	81745	81745
R-squared	0.114	0.114	0.114	0.134	0.134	0.134
Province FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Table 3.4: DID Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage

Robust standard errors in parentheses.

\*\*\* p < 0.01 \*\* p < 0.05 \* p < 0.1

Goat Age Age <sup>2</sup> Han	Tal (1) Rural -0.120*** (0.002) -0.000*** (0.000) -0.000***	ble 3.5: S (2) Rural -0.017*** (0.000) 0.000*** (0.000) -0.014***	ensitivity (3) Rural -0.007*** (0.002) -0.025*** (0.001) 0.000*** (0.000) -0.021***	of the G (4) Rural -0.004* (0.003) 0.000** (0.000) -0.025***	Dat-Year E (5) Rural -0.019*** (0.004) 0.036*** (0.000) -0.000**	Effect to S (6)   Urban -0.127***   -0.127*** (0.000)   0.008*** (0.000)   0.000*** (0.000)   0.000 0.004	pecificati (7) Urban -0.018*** (0.002) (0.000) 0.000*** (0.000) 0.002	Ons (8) (1.15an -0.007*** (0.002) (0.001) (0.001) (0.000) (0.000) (0.000) (0.000)	(9) Urban -0.001 (0.003) -0.053*** (0.002) (0.000) -0.001	(10) Urban -0.012*** (0.004) -0.010 (0.001) (0.001) (0.000) -0.004
Primary School or Less	(0.001) (0.001)	(0.001) $(0.001)$ $(0.001)$	(0.002) $(0.088^{***})$ (0.002)	(0.002)	(0.003) (0.003)	(0.002) (0.002) (0.002)	(0.004) (0.004)	(0.004) $(0.111^{***})$ (0.005)	(0.004) $(0.118^{***})$ (0.006)	(0.008) (0.008) (0.008)
High/Technical School Higher Education	-0.084*** (0.001) -0.164*** (0.003)	-0.096*** (0.001) -0.242*** (0.004)	-0.110*** (0.002) -0.250*** (0.004)	-0.131*** (0.002) -0.239*** (0.004)	-0.155*** (0.003) -0.241*** (0.005)	-0.070*** (0.001) -0.168*** (0.002)	-0.098*** (0.002) -0.196*** (0.002)	$-0.110^{***}$ (0.002) $-0.196^{***}$ (0.002)	-0.121*** (0.002) -0.197*** (0.002)	-0.129*** (0.003) -0.202*** (0.003)
Constant	-4.071*** (0.013)	$1.464^{***}$ (0.040)	2.257*** (0.082)	2.299*** (0.227)	-5.815*** (1.217)	-1.642*** (0.022)	4.032*** (0.059)	5.293*** (0.114)	6.176*** (0.284)	0.677 (1.393)
Observations R-squared	791076 0.614	455903 0.472	346958 0.392	237091 0.299	141429 0.215	317056 0.598	196744 0.399	153306 0.306	106062 0.212	62717 0.147
Age Polynomial Support Province FE	2 1970-1983 YES	2 1975-1983 YES	2 1976-1982 YES	2 1977-1981 YES	2 1978-1980 YES	2 1970-1983 YES	2 1975-1983 YES	2 1976-1982 YES	2 1977-1981 YES	2 1978-1980 YES
Robust standard errors in pare	ntheses.									

Robust standard errors in parentheses. \*\*\* p < 0.01 \*\* p < 0.05 \* p < 0.1

§3.8 Appendix Tables

## § 3.8 Appendix Tables

	0110115 (110					
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)
Goat	-0.040***	-0.014**	-0.035***	-0.012	-0.037**	-0.007
	(0.008)	(0.007)	(0.011)	(0.010)	(0.016)	(0.014)
Constant	0.342***	0.177***	0.332***	0.180***	0.334***	0.180***
	(0.018)	(0.013)	(0.018)	(0.013)	(0.018)	(0.013)
Observations	119731	109448	119731	109448	119731	109448
R-squared	0.191	0.178	0.191	0.178	0.191	0.178
Age Polynomial	2	2	3	3	4	4
Province FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Table A3.1: RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage with January and February Cohorts (Rural)

Robust standard errors in parentheses.

\*\*\* p < 0.01\*\* p < 0.05\*p < 0.1

Table A3.2: RD Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage with January and Febru	u-
ary Cohorts (Urban)	

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)	78-79(HG)	79-80(GM)
Goat	-0.029***	-0.018***	0.001	-0.030***	-0.001	-0.033**
	(0.009)	(0.006)	(0.012)	(0.009)	(0.017)	(0.013)
Constant	0.236***	0.139***	0.219***	0.141***	0.216***	0.143***
	(0.011)	(0.008)	(0.011)	(0.009)	(0.011)	(0.009)
Observations	51999	50192	51999	50192	51999	50192
R-squared	0.147	0.105	0.148	0.105	0.148	0.105
Age Polynomial	2	2	3	3	4	4
Province FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

Robust standard errors in parentheses.

\*\*\* p < 0.01\*\* p < 0.05\*p < 0.1

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Rural	Rural	Rural	(+) Urban	Urban	Urban
Pair 1978-1979=1 × New Year=1	-0.022***	-0.012	-0.014	-0.002	0.013	0.012
	(0.022)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.002)	(0.015)	(0.012)
Pair 1978-1979=1	-0.021***	-0.026***	-0.023**	-0.022**	-0.034***	-0.032**
1 un_1770 1777=1	(0.021)	(0.020)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.013)	(0.052)
New Year=1	-0.044***	-0.050***	-0.076***	-0.034***	-0.042***	-0.048***
	(0.006)	(0.000)	(0.011)	(0.008)	(0.012)	(0.014)
Aae	0.011***	0.010***	0.013***	0.010***	0.008***	0.010***
190	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.002)	(0.002)
$Aae^2$	-0.000	-0.000	0.001***	0.000**	0.000**	0.001***
190	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
$Aae^3$	(0.000)	0.000	-0.000***	(0.000)	0.000	-0.000
		(0.000)	(0.000)		(0.000)	(0.000)
$Age^4$		()	-0.000***		()	-0.000***
5			(0.000)			(0.000)
New Year= $1 \times Aqe$	-0.004***	-0.005*	-0.038***	-0.002	-0.002	-0.015**
5	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.007)
New Year=1 $\times Aqe^2$	-0.000	-0.000	-0.007***	-0.000	-0.000	-0.003***
0	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)
New Year= $1 \times Age^3$		-0.000	-0.000***		-0.000	-0.000**
-		(0.000)	(0.000)		(0.000)	(0.000)
New Year= $1 \times Age^4$			0.000***			0.000**
			(0.000)			(0.000)
Han	-0.075***	-0.075***	-0.074***	-0.007	-0.007	-0.007
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Primary or Less	0.141***	0.141***	0.141***	0.145***	0.145***	0.145***
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)
High/Technical School	-0.185***	-0.185***	-0.185***	-0.149***	-0.149***	-0.148***
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Higher Education	-0.300***	-0.300***	-0.300***	-0.260***	-0.260***	-0.259***
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Constant	0.596***	0.598***	0.579***	0.394***	0.397***	0.387***
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Observations	221824	221824	221824	93101	93101	93101
R-squared	0.115	0.115	0.116	0.134	0.134	0.134
Province FE	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES

## Table A3.3: DID Estimates of the Goat-Year Effects on Marriage with January and February Cohorts

Robust standard errors in parentheses.

\*\*\* p < 0.01\*\* p < 0.05\*p < 0.1